

Progress in adsorption capacity of nanomaterials for carbon dioxide capture: A comparative study

Rabita Mohd Firdaus, Alexandre Desforges, Abdul Rahman Mohamed,

Brigitte Vigolo

► To cite this version:

Rabita Mohd Firdaus, Alexandre Desforges, Abdul Rahman Mohamed, Brigitte Vigolo. Progress in adsorption capacity of nanomaterials for carbon dioxide capture: A comparative study. Journal of Cleaner Production, 2021, 328, pp.129553. 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.129553 . hal-03582936

HAL Id: hal-03582936 https://hal.univ-lorraine.fr/hal-03582936

Submitted on 21 Feb2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial - NoDerivatives 4.0 International License

Progress in adsorption capacity of nanomaterials for carbon dioxide capture: A comparative study

Rabita Mohd Firdaus ^{a,b} Alexandre Desforges ^b, Abdul Rahman Mohamed^{*a} and Brigitte Vigolo^{*b}

^a School of Chemical Engineering, Engineering Campus, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 14300
 Nibong Tebal, Seberang Perai Selatan, P. Pinang, Malaysia
 ^b Université de Lorraine, CNRS, IJL, F-54000 Nancy, France

Corresponding authors:

Brigitte Vigolo: Brigitte.Vigolo@univ-lorraine.fr, ORCID: 0000-0002-1463-0121 Abdul Rahman Mohamed: chrahman@usm.my, ORCID: 0000-0002-5418-5456

Abstract

With the gradual rise in atmospheric carbon dioxide brought about by human activities and industry effluents, research has now been geared toward carbon capture and storage. To achieve high carbon dioxide adsorption capacity, development of nanomaterials with optimized properties has been attracting growing interest for more than ten years already. Such multiparameter investigations require a complex and rigorous analysis in order to compare the different developed adsorbents and improve their performances. In this review, we propose a state-of-the-art approach related to the four most studied nanostructured adsorbents for carbon dioxide capture: graphene, carbon nanotubes, zeolite, and metal organic frameworks. The capture processes and the nanomaterials of interest were described as well as the modifications applied to improve the efficiency of carbon dioxide capture. The present unprecedented analysis allows to correlate the nanomaterial properties, especially surface area and pore volume, to the CO_2 adsorption capacity. The results reveal that contrary the popular belief, the CO_2 capture improvement is not solely liable on the high surface area and the high pore volume of the nanosorbents. This outcome may be useful in the course of improvement of nanostructured materials for CO_2 capture for future technologies.

Keywords CO₂ capture; adsorption; graphene; carbon nanotubes; MOF; zeolite

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Generalities about CO ₂ capture	7
3. Mechanism of adsorption process	11
3.1 Chemical adsorption	12
3.2 Physical adsorption	14
4. Nanomaterials for CO ₂ capture	16
4.1 Carbon-based nanomaterials	16
4.2 Zeolites	20
4.3 Metal organic frameworks	22
5. Modification technology for enhancing the porous adsorbents	27
5.1 Physical modification	27
5.1.1 CO_2 activation	27
5.1.2 Steam activation	29
5.2 Chemical modification	31
5.3 Optimization of solid nanomaterials adsorbents for CO ₂ capture	35
6. Nanomaterials and the Economic Perspective	
7. Nanomaterials properties-performance relationships	40
7.1 Achieved progress of CO ₂ adsorption capacity in research	49
7.2 Pore volume and surface area	52
7. Concluding remarks	57

1. Introduction

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) has commonly been regarded as the primary contributor to greenhouse gases compared to other gases like methane, water vapor, nitrous oxide, and ozone,

accounting for nearly three-quarters of pollutions. The concentration of CO₂ in the atmosphere has been observed to keep on rising significantly as a result of high combustion of organic burning materials and fossil fuels, particularly coal, to meet the rising global demand for energy. According to the Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, global emissions rose from 2 billion tons of CO₂ in 1900 to over 35 billion tons in 2015, while the data from Global Carbon Project showed an additional annual increase of 2.7% and 0.6%, respectively, in 2018 and 2019 (Le Quéré et al., 2015). In fact, increasing emission of CO₂ and other greenhouse gases has led to an increase in the average global temperature. Independent analyses by NASA and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration reported that the average global surface temperature of the earth has risen more than 2°C since 1880, and they believe emissions in this century will also further contribute to climate change in the short and long term (Smith et al., 2008). Additionally, according to NASA's Goddard Institute for Space Studies (GISS), rising atmospheric and ocean temperatures are driving to ongoing mass loss from Greenland and Antarctica, and also a spike in climate extremes such as heat waves, wildfires, and strong precipitation (GISTEMP Team, 2021; Lenssen et al., 2019). In order to combat global warming, Kyoto Protocol encourages 37 developed nations and the European Union to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions by an average of 5.2% below those of 1990 between 2008 and 2012 (Lau et al., 2009). Besides, the Paris Climate Agreement also intends to lessen the increasing rate of global temperature to 1.5°C or 2°C above pre-industrial level by 2100. Concerns over the rapid increase of CO₂ levels in the atmosphere, as well as how it exacerbates climate change, have prompted a major research effort to capture and store CO₂ gas from point source pollution. In fact, it was reported that, improving carbon capture and storage (CCS) will minimize current CO₂ emissions from point sources by more than 50% at sustainable costs

(Hasan et al., 2015). To design efficient strategies for CCS, it is necessary to understand each

capture process and the mechanism to choose a correct approach. Post-combustion is known as the most advanced and widely used technique for gas adsorption and storage applications using varieties of solid porous material bases, as it offers process simplicity, significantly less energy production, and implementation over a wide range of temperatures (Chao et al., 2020). Adsorption is identified as a major industrial process due to its high performance, convenience of design, simplicity of regeneration, and affordable price, and it does not contain harmful substances. It is a viable technology that relies on the development of novel adsorbents with high adsorption capability, selectivity, and fast kinetics in order to reversibly capture CO₂ from fuel gas steam. The scale-up production of nanomaterials for CO₂ capture application is still largely in the future, their life cycle assessment is a topic of a growing attention (Lee, 2021; Pathakoti et al., 2018; Sreenivasulu et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2014). The main studied and reported adsorbents are activated carbon (AC), AC fibers, ordered porous carbon and graphene, carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and non-carbonaceous adsorbents such as metal organic frameworks (MOFs), zeolites, porous polymers, alkali metal-based materials, silica materials and metal oxide carbonate materials. In general, according to published research, nanoparticles have a great potential for CO₂ capture-related technologies due to their large surface area and porosity structure. For the development of nanostructured porous materials, there are a limitless number of potentials; yet for significant progress, more studies are needed to clarify the mechanisms involved and improve the uptake capacity. Besides, to address the limitations of each nanomaterial, investigation in term of the novel structures, new functional groups, hybrid systems, and technologies are also needed. For such driving factors, there has been a tremendous effort over the last decade to address gas separation and adsorption using nanomaterials. Figure 1 depicts the number of publications on CO₂ capture using the four main

nanomaterials studied (graphene, CNTs, zeolites and MOFs) over the last 12 years, indicating the growing interest in nanomaterials as efficient solid sorbents.



Figure 1 Number of publications on CO_2 capture using graphene, CNTs, zeolites and MOFs and CO_2 capture as topic (source Web of Science database).

Among the recently published reviews regarding CO_2 capture, some of them have focused on carbon-based adsorbents as they are identified as significant adsorbents for CO_2 because of its large availability, cost-effective, high surface area, simple pore structure alteration, and possible surface functionalization (Zhang et al., 2019). The two other solid adsorbents which are widely envisaged as efficient CO_2 adsorbents are zeolites and MOFs. With their high porosity and specific nature, they also offer relevant advantages for CO_2 capture. Some recent reviews discuss the characteristics and the advantages of each of these four mainly developed solid adsorbents (Abd et al., 2020; Patel et al., 2017; Yaumi et al., 2017; Younas, 2016). One of the key challenges for adsorption-based gas separation to achieve market viability is the development of appropriate adsorbents that meet the efficiency requirements for coal- and gas-fired power plants. Thus, in order to develop new, highly effective adsorbents, certain material characteristics have to be optimized, such as the properties (*i.e.*, porous surface structure, high-specific surface area and high thermal, chemical and mechanical stability) (Dhillon and Kumar, 2019) as well as the surface chemistry of the nanomaterials. Each of these nanomaterials possesses its own specific characteristics and its own chemistry. For over 10 years of research on the subject, it remains unclear which parameter plays the major role in maximizing CO₂ adsorption capacity.

Recent reviews on CO_2 capture highlight the numerous parameters that could be considered in order to fully understand the adsorption mechanism on nanomaterials. In this review, based on the reported adsorption capacity of the mainly studied nanomaterials designed, we propose an unprecedented quantitative analysis which allows to compare the performances of the four main nanomaterials studied for CO_2 capture: graphene, CNTs, zeolites and MOFs. The CO_2 adsorption capacity of the most studied nanomaterials is tentatively related to their morphological (surface and pore volume) properties. The original and simple proposed analysis robustly reveals that the surface texture properties are not sufficient to predict the adsorption capacity and in agreement with other recent reviews, surface chemistry and pore size are especially believed to play an important role in CO_2 adsorption mechanisms (Belmabkhout et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021).

This review is organized in six main sections. Carbonaceous adsorbents (graphene and CNTs) and non-carbonic adsorbents (zeolites and MOFs) are described after some generalities in the CO₂ capture process. The following section focuses on both the physical and chemical modifications applied to the nanostructured materials to enhance CO₂ capture. In particular, the

mechanisms, including physical and chemical adsorption, have been reviewed as a reference for the readers to obtain a clear perspective when designing and improving CO₂ adsorbents. Finally, the specifics of the chosen nanomaterials have been analyzed to better understand the relationship between the properties and the efficiency of the CO₂ capture.

2. Generalities about CO₂ capture

The main principle of the CCS is illustrated in Figure 2a. CO_2 emission is first captured; then, the compressed CO_2 is transported through pipelines for storage in geological formations including in ocean or mineral carbonates or used as feedstock for industrial processes.

(a) Conceptual CCS System



Figure 2 (a) the main principle of the CCS (b) the types of CO_2 capture technologies

Capturing CO₂ is more likely to be implemented to large point sources like power plants as compared to small and mobile sources like transportation, as it is more cost-effective. Basically, there are four forms of carbon capture approaches depending on the source of fuel, CO₂ partial pressure, and gas flow pressure: (1) direct air capture (DAC), (2) oxyfuel combustion, (3) pre-combustion, and (4) post-combustion (Figure 2b). The summary of the CO₂ capture approaches is presented in Figure 1b. DAC is a process for adsorbing CO₂ directly from the atmosphere through chemicals (*e.g.*, sodium hydroxide). DAC is not being directly linked to the existing energy infrastructure that generates CO₂, and it deals with low CO₂ concentrations rather than concentrated streams. For oxyfuel combustion process, it is mainly based on separating O_2 from N_2 , which is more similar to the post-combustion system. Instead of separating CO₂ from N₂, the fuel is combusted in oxygen; in this case, O₂ is separated first from N₂. The flue gas which consists mainly of CO₂ and steam can be easily separated by condensation. Pre-combustion refers to the process of CO₂ capture before the combustion. In this process, the fossil fuels are converted into syngas, mainly composed of CO and H₂. Then, the CO is further reacted with steam to generate CO₂ and more H₂. The highly concentrated H₂ gas could be supplied as an energy source, while the eliminated CO₂ from the system is stored. Separating CO₂ by pre-combustion seems to require less energy, and it is much economical compared with post-combustion (Chen et al., 2020). In addition, the conversion from carbon fuel to non-carbon fuel could bring extra goods and profits to the factory. Post-combustion implies the absorption of CO₂ after the burning of fossil fuel with air, ensuring that CO₂ is sequestered from the NO_x and SO₂ flue gas. There are few methods used in this approach including absorption (Fang et al., 2020), adsorption (Manyà et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2016), cryogenic distillation (Fu et al., 2016), and membrane and gas hydrates [17]. Table 1 summarizes the benefits and drawbacks of these carbon capture approaches.

 Table 1 Advantages and drawbacks of carbon capture approaches.

	Advantages	Drawbacks
Pre- combustion ·	more economic and low ·	Required comprehensive
capture	emission	support system
		Additional cooling costs

	• High CO ₂ concentration	• Lack of performance in
	and output pressure to	water-gas shift section
	improve the efficiency of	
	sorption	
Post- combustion	• High kinetics	· Corrosion due to basic
capture	performance	solvent
	• More economical	· Solvent regeneration
	approach for the	necessitates a significant
	extraction of energy from	amount of energy.
	fuel	• Degradation of the solvent
	• Redevelop systems easily	• Owing to foaming
	in existing plants	properties and viscosity,
	• applicability over a	the solvent concentration is
	relatively wide range of	limited.
	temperature and pressure	• High capital costs and
	conditions	operating expenses for
		existing systems of sorption
Oxyfuel	• The volume of gas to be	Increased SO ₂
combustion	treated reduced and	concentrations can
	smaller size of boiler	accelerate machinery
	required	corrosion.
		• Combustion of pure oxygen
		would be challenging.

Potential to lower energy ·	High production cost due to
consumption with	large production of
membranes	cryogenic
CO_2 separation is not \cdot	Decreased process
required	efficiency

3. Mechanism of adsorption process

Theoretically, adsorption is described as an equilibrium-diffusion-reaction of a molecule from a liquid or gas into solid surface (Julbe et al., 2019), which passes through the gas and liquid channels simultaneously or counterfactually through a packed column. In practical terms, adsorption capacity is intensively driven by the mass transfer between the adsorbate and adsorbent surfaces as well as the adsorption reaction rate. Adsorption can also trigger in surface energy as the surface molecules experience bond deficiency, thus making them energetically favorable to adsorption of molecules. Contrariwise, the inability of the particles to leave the surface can be called as desorption. In general, the principle of adsorption involves four stages: (1) the isolated sites on the sample surface begin to adsorb gas molecules at low pressure; (2) once gas pressure rises, the area of adsorbed molecules expands to form a monolayer; (3) additionally increasing gas pressure can cause multilayer coverage to begin, and smaller pores in the sample will first fill in; and lastly (4), a further rise in gas pressure would cause the sample to be entirely covered and all pores filled (White, 2013). Besides this principle, the adsorption mechanism is also a critical thing to emphasize. The mechanism of adsorption can be classified into two, which is either by physical or chemical absorption. The difference between these two mechanisms arises in terms of specificity, bonding, characterization, surface area, molecular layer, and consequence of various factors in the whole process. Figure 3 shows

the mechanisms of both physical and chemical adsorptions, and they are described in more details below.



Figure 3 Mechanisms of (a) physisorption and (b) chemisorption process.

3.1 Chemical adsorption

Chemisorption is a chemical adsorption process where a molecule adsorbs onto a solid surface by spontaneous formation of a chemical bond-like hydrogen bonding, covalent and ionic bond. The process commonly works at very low concentrations, and the chemisorbed particles are often irreversible. In chemical adsorption, the electrons are obviously transferred between adsorbents and adsorbates (J. Liu et al., 2017). This process takes place when the gas molecules are adsorbed by valence bonds on the adsorbent surface, then forming a monolayer. In addition, it may also require high regeneration energy. The energy of chemisorption between gas molecules and adsorbents can differ considerably depending on the strength of the adsorbent and adsorbate specie bonding. In terms of adsorption kinetics, chemisorption process is an exothermic reaction, and the enthalpy values are normally high due to the formation of chemical bonds. Xu et al. investigated the chemical process of carbon-based/Fe oxyhydroxide composites, with synthesis through one-step pyrolysis process in CO₂ capture. The main advantage of this material is it has the potential to be a low-cost and efficient adsorbent. Also, these carbon-based/Fe oxyhydroxide composites also could adsorb CO2 by physical and chemical adsorbent. In this work, physical adsorption happens first, and as the content of Fe increases, the mechanism changes from physical to chemical adsorption due to favorable interactions between Fe oxyhydroxides and CO2 molecules. As a result, the ability to adsorb CO₂ increases and adsorption kinetics decreases (Xu et al., 2020). Besides, according to Gomez-Pozuelo et al., there are three routes to prepare amine-functionalized porous adsorbents. First one is by grafting organosilanes with aminopropyl (AP) and diethylenetriamine (DT); second is by impregnation with polyethyleneimine (PEI); and, finally, it is the double functionalization by impregnating earlier grafted samples. Among these routes, they found that the second method showed the highest CO₂ capture. Theoretically, the CO₂ molecules are adsorbed on the adsorbent non-polar surface, which is dominated by oxygenated functional groups. The reaction is here supported by the interaction between adsorbent and adsorbate at a moderate temperature resulting in an exothermic reaction in nature. Consequently, the adsorbent surface is regenerated by reversing the adsorption state to reuse it for the next adsorption process. Additionally, the incorporation of amine groups into solid adsorbent materials is expected to promote polarization and improve CO2 since it was directly linked with primary and secondary amines. Therefore, owing to the chemical reaction between CO2 and amines, the major contribution of chemisorption on amino groups to complete CO₂ adsorption

is achieved (Gómez-Pozuelo et al., 2019). Furthermore, the performance of capture systems would also rely on the regeneration potential of amine or nitrogen-functional solid adsorbents. In a study by Baltar *et al.*, two different amine-based solvents, that is, dimethylethanolamine (DMEA) and diethylethanolamine (DEEA), were utilized to analyze the adsorbent surface behavior in CO_2 capture. Besides, they mainly focus on the solvent regeneration process (stripping operation), which considers the aspects related to cost and efficiency. As per their findings, they have determined that the regeneration methods increase the interest for the solvents due to the good behavior in the absorption step. A significant decrease in driving force due to an incomplete regeneration could be clarified by comparing the results achieved for aqueous solutions of DMEA, thanks to regeneration cycles using stripping (Baltar et al., 2020).

3.2 Physical adsorption

Physical adsorption or physisorption is defined as a form of adsorption that attaches the target adsorbate to the adsorbent via hydrogen bonding, van der Waals, electrostatic forces, and hydrophobic interactions, which are interactions typically reversible depending on pressure and temperature. Tan *et al.* used different types of carbon nanoporous structure to examine the surface morphology, porous structure, and oxygen physisorption capability of pulverized coals. The porous substances are typically ideal adsorbents, because the porous nature is correlated with the rising surface area. Their results showed that the amount of adsorbed oxygen corresponds to the topological dimension of the carbon pores and the volume of coal nanopores, but inversely to the number of pores filled within the material. Besides, they have also found that the physical adsorption rate increases with an increased number of folds and surface area, and they noticed low desorption temperatures of physisorbates due to weak interactions (Tan et al., 2020). Physisorption is usually described as an exothermic reaction with low enthalpy

values due to weak attraction forces from van der Waals (Shahabi and Raissi, 2016) and it can also be related to an adsorption energy. For these cases, the particle adsorption is always a spontaneous process with no limits, whereas desorption of adsorbed molecules should prevent the binding energy from a surface; thus, the value of adsorption energy is often positive (Xia and Tang, 2012). Research on the CO₂ binding mechanisms was carried out using various materials including pure silica support and modified amine-grafted mesoporous silica. The result showed that the enthalpy value of unmodified pure silica support was lower compared with the reacted species on the surface, confirming that the main binding mechanism is physisorption. The low activation energy for physisorption on pressure swings also allows for maximum reversibility. In addition, the pore size distribution observed corresponds well with the fact that the sites are focused on low enthalpies. These signals would lead to the CO₂ emissions physisorbed (Sánchez-Zambrano et al., 2020). The exothermic reaction occurs more readily at lower temperatures. According to Wang et al., at 0°C and 25°C and low pressure, the CO₂ adsorption isotherm curve was noted to have a steep rise until it slowly reached a maximum at 1 bar. In the case of physical adsorption of gas over solids, the rate of adsorption increases with an increase in pressure as the density of the gas reduces throughout the adsorption process (Wang, 2019). This can also be explained by the Le-Chatelier's principle. When a complex balance is disrupted by the changing conditions of concentration, pressure, or temperature, the position of the equilibrium shifts to combat the change (Treptow, 1980). Table 2 summarizes the classification of the main differences between physical and chemical adsorption.

Table 2 Comparison between the two adsorption processes: physical and chemical (De et al.,2013; Králik, 2014; Panic et al., 2013; Wei and Seo, 2010)

Physisorption

Chemisorption

No electron transfer Electron transfer leading to • formation of the bond (maybe polarization might occur) Van der Waals forces between Strong chemical bond; (e.g.: molecules hydrogen bonding, covalent and ionic bond) Reversible process Irreversible process Monolayer or multilayer adsorption Monolayer adsorption Low adsorption heat High adsorption heat (10-40 J/mol) (20-400 kJ/mol) Low activation energy High activation energy Adsorption increase when pressure No effect on the adsorption when increase change of pressure High binding energy (10-100 meV) Low binding energy (1-10 meV)

4. Nanomaterials for CO₂ capture

4.1 Carbon-based nanomaterials

AC was historically among the first carbon-based adsorbents used for CO₂ capture due to its abundant feedstock, low-cost materials, high available surface, and high adsorptive characteristics (Singh, 2019; Singh et al., 2019a, 2019b, 2018). More recently, nanostructured carbon-based adsorbents, especially graphene and CNTs, are identified as significant

adsorbents of CO₂ due to their large availability, cost-effective, high surface area, adjustable pore structure, possible surface functionalization and ease of regeneration. Figure 3 shows the structure of graphene and carbon nanotubes. Generally, graphene is a single-atom thick layer of a hexagonal structure made of sp²-bonded carbon atoms. Various types of graphene exist including single-layer graphene, few-layer graphene, multilayer-layer graphene, graphene oxide (GO), graphene nanoplatelets (GNPs) and reduced graphene oxide (rGO), among the main graphene derivatives. Graphene derivatives can be self-assembled to form porous 3D materials. The architecture, morphology, and properties of these graphene-based materials (GBMs), such as the type, chemical properties of the surface, structural strength, and even the physical properties depend on the synthesis process (Mohd Firdaus et al., 2020). For example, Chowdhury and Balasubramanian fabricated a highly ordered GBMs with large specific surface area and interconnected hierarchical pore networks (Chowdhury, 2016). More significantly, through various stacking techniques, the gas flow channel and pores can be controlled, resulting in excellent CO₂/N₂ stability and fast adsorption kinetics as well as stable CO2 adsorption/desorption cycling process. Besides, the addition of functional compounds such as oxygen-containing groups has also been shown to be useful for the design of a good porous material for CO₂ absorption (Liu et al., 2018). Sui et al. synthesized 3D hydrothermal rGO (HRGO) with high pore capacity and large surface area (Sui and Han, 2015). Their graphenebased adsorbent displayed an enhanced CO₂ capture efficiency due to textural properties and various molecular interactions, e.g., acid-base interactions, polar interactions, and hydrogen bonding between CO₂ and HRGO. Similarly, the incorporation of functional groups of doping heteroatoms, such as nitrogen, sulfur, oxygen, and phosphorus, has also been shown to be promising dopants for CNTs and graphene-based adsorbents to improve their capacity to absorb CO₂ (Bandosz et al., 2016; Li et al., 2016). A nitrogen-doped graphene aerogel (NGA)

adsorbent was synthesized by a simple hydrothermal method using ammonia as a dopant (Sui et al., 2015). The NGA possessed a hierarchical structure with high porosity significantly conducive to the mass diffusion process and the exposure of adsorption sites for adsorbates. Besides, high charge density at nitrogen sites of NGA could maximize the contact with polarizable carbon dioxide molecules through interactions between dipole and quadrupole which can greatly impact the efficiency of CO₂ capture.

CNTs are often made of graphite, which has a tubular shape with an extremely porous and large surface area that could facilitate gas adsorption and storage applications (Figure 4). The nanotubes contain a single layer and multilayer ranging from around 3 to 100 nm for the outer diameter. They also possess a high thermal and electrical conductivity. Besides, the surface modification of CNTs through covalent or non-covalent functionalization is vital for the development of high-performance adsorbents. These properties make them very promising materials for efficiently and selectively adsorbing and desorbing of CO₂ Presently, the surface of grafted adsorbents with polymerizing materials with either a short- or long-chain polymer amine groups in each monomer has been examined to maximize the performance of CO_2 adsorption (Ngoy, 2014). In addition, a grafted long-chain polymer with diamine has also provided a large CO₂ anchoring site for carbamate formation, covering multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) to improve surface area and pore volume. Recently, CNTs were used to form microtubular sorbents through the immobilization of PEI (Keller et al., 2018). Along with that, they have functionalized small-sized CNTs with a wet impregnation method to ensure fast heat and mass transfer, which is essential for efficient swing sorption processes. Similarly, Irani et al. have prepared CO₂ sorbent by immobilizing tetraethylenepentamine (TEPA) onto functionalized CNTs, and they believed that MWCNTs/TEPA sorbent had potential for application to CO₂ capture (Irani, 2017). The optimal TEPA loading on the functionalized MWCNTs offered high CO₂ adsorption capacity. However, after a further increase in weight% of TEPA, CO₂ adsorption became low and unstable due to agglomeration. Khalili *et al.* proposed a two-step process to prepare functionalized CNTs using mixture of acid and amine compounds (Khalili et al., 2013). In a refluxed system, the CNTs were combined with nitric and sulfuric acids to generate carboxylated CNTs, and a subsequently amine functionalization using 1,3-phenylenediamine was applied. Even though, after modification, the pore volume and surface area were noted to decrease, aminated CNTs have shown higher adsorption capacity compared to the pristine due to the existence of great affinity between CO₂ molecules as a Lewis acid and basic amine sites on the modified CNT surface. Apart from grafting and impregnating with amine functional groups, Oliveira *et al.* modified CNTs with CaO pellets as it is considered a cheap material which can absorb large amounts of CO₂ (Oliveira et al., 2020).



Figure 4 Different types of graphene and carbon nanotubes. Reproduced with permission from refs. (Li et al., 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2017)

4.2 Zeolites

Zeolites including zeolite Y (Murge et al., 2019; Su et al., 2010), 4A (Panda et al., 2019), 5A (Kusumastuti et al., 2018) and 13X (Su and Lu, 2012) are also commonly examined adsorbents for CO₂ capture. Zeolite materials are beneficial due to their porosity, pore size, acidity, basicity, and surface area and can be easily modified according to specifications and applications. Moreover, owing to their molecular sieving effect and good electrostatic interactions between CO₂ molecules and alkali-metal cations in the zeolite framework, zeolites

have been extensively researched for CO₂ capture. The cations in zeolites, such as Li, Na, and Al, could impact the adsorption heat of CO₂ as increase in negative charges, the heat of adsorption increase (Lee and Park, 2015). In addition, zeolites can also be characterized by having uniform pore size of 0.5 nm to 1.2 nm, which facilitates ion exchange, gas adsorption, separation, and purification. Adsorption of zeolites is primarily dependent on the matrix structure and composition, as seen in Figure 5, which can be split into three families: (1) small pore structures consisting of six, eight, or nine tetrahedral; (2) medium pore frameworks with 10 tetrahedral; and (3) large pore zeolites with one membered rings and ultra large structure (Feng et al., 2015).



Figure 5 Relative sizes of n-rings frequently found in zeolites. Reproduced with permission from ref. (McCusker and Baerlocher, 2007)

The presence of pores in the modified zeolite could promote rapid gas diffusion within the pores and thus achieve better CO₂ adsorption efficiency for good CO₂ regeneration (Ci et al., 2017). From the study by Megias-Sayago *et al.*, the zeolite composite materials achieved high CO₂ capture

(Minelli et al., 2018). Their work took advantage of the composites combining a functional microporous zeolite with a mesoporous geopolymer matrix. Such approach enables the zeolite phase to be effectively blended, which could relevantly comply at the industrial scale. Another study investigates the capture of CO₂ adsorption efficiency using PEI-modified 13X zeolite by showing an improvement in CO₂ uptake capacity by a factor of 2.3 over unmodified 13X zeolite (Karka et al., 2019). The strength of the work arises from the fact that the branching of the impregnated molecular amine zeolite composite could trigger greater adsorption potential at optimum reaction parameter. This was explained by the kinetic modeling study. The developed zeolite-based adsorbent was believed to be a cost-effective technique for applying to control circumstances of flue gas for a wider scope of application of the CO₂ capture. Moreover, the effect of type (linear or branched) and the molecular weight of PEI on the efficiency of CO₂ capture have been also studied by Li *et al.* (Li, 2014); as per the latter's findings, it was determined that as the molecular weight of PEI increases, the adsorption capacity of CO₂ decreased. In fact, branched PEIs had a higher adsorption capacity due to higher mobility compared to linear PEIs.

4.3 Metal organic frameworks

MOFs are the current class of solid sorbents which consist of metal cations and organic ligands (as shown in Figure 6a). To date, more than 20,000 different MOFs, including computational

and experimental perspectives, have been reported and explored from an engineering point of view (Furukawa, 2013). On the basis of different metal ions and organic linkers (e.g., transition metals, actinides, alkaline earth metals, mixed metals, carboxylates, sulfates, phosphonates, azoles, heterocyclic compounds, etc.), the multi-component arrangement of the MOFs enables the morphology and microstructures to be tuned, offering them a greater advantage in numerous fields, especially CO₂ (Li et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2017; Seoane et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2017). According to Liu et al., there are three main mechanisms involved in CO₂ capture by MOFs which are (1) MOFs with open metal sites; (2) MOFs with ultra-microporous structures, and (3) amine-functionalized MOFs (Liu et al., 2018). The open metal sites within MOFs, also known as coordinated unsaturated sites, are described as unsaturated metal centers generated during the activation process (Figure 6b) (Sladekova et al., 2020). Among the MOF family, the most extensively explored frameworks with open metal sites are HKUST-1, M-MIL-100, M-MIL-101, and M-MOF-74, where M represents the metal site. Three members of the MIL-100(M) including isostructural series (M = Cr, V, Sc) were synthesized by Cabelo and coworkers to investigate the interaction between unsaturated metal sites in MIL-100 framework and the CO₂ (Cabello et al., 2014). In this study, the thermodynamics of the CO₂ adsorption process was evaluated by FTIR spectroscopy, and they found that incorporation of highly charged metal centers in the framework increases CO₂ affinity. Sumboon et al. synthesized and characterized a 3-D pillared-layer M-DABCO MOF (M = Co, Ni, Cu, Zn) series, and further studied the influence of metal identity on surface area, pore volume, and CO₂ uptake. It was concluded that the metal atom influences the stability and adsorptive characteristics, with Ni-DABCO MOF achieving the highest CO₂ adsorption (at 1 bar and 298 K) and CO₂/CH₄ selectivity (Chaemchuen et al., 2015). The metal ions with strong basic properties such as Ca, Mg, Zn, Li, Mn, and Cu are promising to construct an ideal MOF structure. It is thus important to sort metal particles together via a managed system to increase CO₂ adsorption using these open metal sites. In addition, the introduction of classical Cu metal ions and urea groups, by presenting high-density open metal sites and Lewis basic sites, also promotes CO₂ adsorption from both (B. Liu et al., 2017). The pore size of some ultra-microporous MOFs can be precisely controlled by exchanging organic ligands and metal ions within the framework. As shown in Figure 6c, a MOF-based material on Cu₂ paddle wheels was constructed with ultra-microporous structure that showed high CO₂ adsorption capacity, also thanks to a uniform distribution of adsorptive sites and reasonably strong CO₂-framework interface (Nandi et al., 2018). Aminefunctionalized MOFs are also promising for CO₂ capture due to their tunability thanks to the presence of these functional groups (Darunte et al., 2016). Indeed, nitrogen atoms belonging to the amine group are classified as one type of electronegative atom. It can form strong bonds along with its propensity to create a triple bond with itself and other components that are typically used to provide active sites for CO₂ capture. For MOFs, there are two known strategies often used to graft an amine functional group. First, amine is attached to open metal sites through a strong bonding interaction between the positive N atom and the unoccupied orbital of the open metal cation. Second, the amine group is linked to organic ligands. In the case of amine grafting by ethylenediamine (EDA), for instance, it has been shown that the ability of CO₂ adsorption and kinetics have been significantly improved (Cabello et al., 2015).

The MOF hybrid method is another aspect of modification that can be addressed. The objective of hybrid systems is to increase the density of higher affinity sites in order to promote good CO₂ interactions. Recently, a new class of hybrid systems has been investigate by Alfe *et al.* using MOF-based with graphene layers (MOF/GL). Three benzene-1,3,5-tricarboxylic acid (BTC)-based MOFs (Cu-HKUST-1, Al-MIL96, and Fe-MIL100), as well as their hybrids incorporating graphene like (GL) layers (5 wt.%), were synthetized and structurally

characterized in this study. They observed that adding GL to MOFs at a concentration of 5 wt.% did not significantly impact their textural properties. However, in CO₂ adsorption isotherms, it revealed the appearance of significant interactions corresponding to chemisorption in Cu- and Al-based MOFs, whereas physisorption takes place in Fe-MIL100 and its hybrids. Despite the MOF hybrid composite promising textural characteristics, intercalation with GL layers causes changes in the physicochemical/chemistry of the pores, which restricts the adsorption properties (Alfe et al., 2021). Similarly, Pourebrahimi *et al.* used MIL-53(Al) and graphene-based materials to create a hybrid MOF composite. In this work, they used two steps to activate the hybrid composite adsorbents and they found that the incorporation of GNP on MIL-53(Al) caused an improvement in term of the microporosity of the framework. Furthermore, MIL-53(Al)/GNP exhibited a 35% of increment in CO₂ adsorption capacity (Pourebrahimi et al., 2015).

All the above nanomaterials are promising adsorbents for CO₂ capture as they can minimize the energy requirements for the regeneration process. Many post-synthesis modifications like chemical functionalization or activation of their textural properties have been proposed to enhance their adsorptive performance. The commonly used methods can be classified in two main families: the physical and the chemical modifications.



Figure 6 (a) Basic schematic diagram of the MOF structure; the mechanism involved in CO₂ capture (b) MOFs with open metal sites; and (c) Interactions and distances between CO₂ molecules and the ultra-microporous structures of the MOFs using simulations. Reproduced with permission from (Heo et al., 2020; Harada et al., 2019; Nandi et al., 2018), respectively.

5. Modification technology for enhancing the porous adsorbents

Selectively removing CO₂ from different components of the flue gas mix requires specific interaction forces between the gaseous molecules and the solid surface. Thus, researchers have developed different strategies involving physical and chemical routes in order to maximize the interactions of the material surface with CO₂ and also to improve the adsorption processes. Further controlled material alteration could also facilitate the opening of pores and increase surface area, making them more ideal materials for CO₂ capture.

5.1 Physical modification

Physical activation is defined as a method of carbonizing porous materials usually treated at high temperatures with activation agents, either by steam or CO₂. Basically, the mechanism begins with a thermal decomposition of the carbon source material, which is followed by the addition of an activating agent (Mohamad Nor et al., 2013). This is a slow oxidation process in which oxygen interacts with carbon atoms, resulting in the formation of pores. The oxygen in the system is also slightly chemisorbed to the surface, creating oxygen-based complexes. Besides, the physical activation surface is a less expensive and environmentally friendly approach as the chemicals are readily accessible, and the system is relatively easy and effective.

5.1.1 CO₂ activation

Activation of CO₂ is a method of extracting any carbon from solid and then converting it to CO at a temperature higher than 800°C. This is one of the approaches to develop highly porous materials with an expected maximized adsorption due to the large surface area produced. In particular, electron transfer can activate the CO₂ molecules to promote a shift of its electron character, making it nucleophilic and much reactive with C-C (or C-H) bonds. For example, Li *et al.* work reported a facile CO₂ activation approach without any template to produce porous carbon spheres (PCS) (Li, 2016). The CO₂ flow was introduced to activate the sample at a

temperature of 1000°C for 150 min, and the porous carbons prepared by CO₂ activation were found to have high pore capacity and large surface area of 1.75 cm³ g⁻¹ and 3350 m² g⁻¹ respectively. As a result, an exceptional CO₂ and CH₄ uptake at 20 bar and 298 K, respectively, was successfully achieved, and these findings have shown that the CO₂-activation PCS has a good capacity to store energy source-related gases at high pressure. The development of such materials could be due to the production of new pores by opening closed pores or enlarging existing pores caused by devolatilization and carbon- CO₂ reaction. Graphene-based nanostructures have been investigated as precursor by various groups. Xia et al. synthesized hierarchically macroporous graphene-based carbons (HPGCs) through CO2 activation. Interestingly, they observed that the optimal temperature for CO₂ activation is 750°C. Such relatively low temperature helped in preserving graphic sp² structure, while activation at higher temperature has been shown to form defects. Besides, HPGCs displayed high-specific surface areas with a wide pore volume of up to 532 m² g⁻¹ and 1.67 cm³ g⁻¹, respectively, with maximum adsorption capacities of 1.76 mmol g^{-1} for CO₂ at 273 K and 1 bar (Xia et al., 2014). Similarly, through a simple CO₂ activation approach, Chowdhury et al. have constructed 3D folded graphene-based porous adsorbents with highly entangled networks with rGO a precursor at various temperature ranging from 750 to 950°C. Furthermore, according to the N2 adsorption/desorption profile, as the activation temperature rose, the observed gradual sharpening of the isotherm curve indicated a decrease in the micropore size distribution and the creation of smaller micropores (Chowdhury and Balasubramanian, 2016a). Jin et al. have reported a hierarchical macroporous-microporous structure of modified CNTs with carbon composite monoliths (CCM). In their study, they have found that CNT-CCM is much more reactive with CO₂ during activation, exhibiting a significant burn-off phenomenon and a very short activation duration (15 min instead of 60 min). Apart from that, the adsorbent retains a hierarchical macroporous-microporous structure with superior CO₂ adsorption capacity and kinetics, shown as CO₂ over N₂ (Jin et al., 2013).

5.1.2 Steam activation

Steam activation is often described as a process of opening and developing a carbon material porosity caused by mild oxidation through the passing of hot steam. Water normally reacts with carbon at 800-1100°C and generates CO and dihydrogen (H₂). Steam activation was commonly performed under inert conditions and high temperatures to prevent oxidation of porous carbon (Heo and Park, 2015). This kind of activation appears to be likely effective because of the fast kinetics between carbon and steam reaction (Hetemi et al., 2020). Since the general reaction is essentially carbon conversion into carbon dioxide, the process is therefore exothermic, and it is feasible to use this energy to provide a self-sustaining cycle. Furthermore, steam activation could also render the pore structure and surface area more accessible. The reaction between carbon and steam has led to remove carbon atoms from the pore walls, thereby enlarging the pores. Heo and Park have prepared ultra-microporous carbonaceous adsorbents by a two-step-approach which are carbonization and activation process for enhancing CO₂ capture. The carbonization process was performed for 30 min, followed by CO₂ activation for 60 min at a temperature range of 700–850°C. According to the Brunauer-Emmett-Teller (BET) evaluation, the specific surface area was 1018 m² g⁻¹ with a total pore volume of 0.429 cm³ g^{-1} ; further, they have found an excellent CO₂ uptake of 3.776 mmol g^{-1} at 298 K (1 bar). In this study, they concluded that steam activation was effective without chemical activation in developing optimized CO₂ capture micropores (Heo and Park, 2015).

Sui *et al.* synthesized graphene aerogel (GA)-based adsorbents by steam activation to achieve high adsorption capabilities for toluene and methanol at saturated vapor pressure and room temperature. The GA was activated under a flowing nitrogen and steam atmosphere at various

temperatures from 750°C to 900°C. The BET analysis showed that the specific surface area of the GA with steam activation (SAGA) possessed a higher surface area of 830–1230 m² g⁻¹ with a pore volume of 2.2–3.6 cm³ g⁻¹ compared to GA with a surface area of 600 m² g⁻¹ and a pore volume of up to $1.60 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ g}^{-1}$. In particular, SAGA could also be a potential porous material for CO₂ capture as they have observed that there was an enhancement in the adsorption capacities (Sui et al., 2014). Similarly, through a self-assembly and steam activation process, Yun *et al.* reported that the 3D rGO monoliths revealed large specific surface area approaching 1600 m² g⁻¹ and an exceptionally high porosity of >98% after steam activation. During activation, thermal stress was imposed on the surface of the sample and made it more crumpled by the defects and thermal stress, as demonstrated in Figure 7. The steam activation at high temperature offers better access to pore surface adsorption sites due to the provoked wrinkled and crumpled morphology (Yun et al., 2016). Moreover, Iruretagoyena et al. reported that the number of micropores has increased, and the capacity has been controlled by physical interaction, mainly involving n-complexation. Steam seems particularly successful despite its small molecular size promoting diffusion, resulting in the formation of a microporous structure (Iruretagoyena et al., 2020). These physical modification strategies, however, have both strengths and weaknesses. On one hand, physical modification is capable of synthesizing high surface and high-quality structure, while on the other hand, it requires high energy consumption. Although the adsorbents prepared through physical modification possess many excellent properties, there are still some points to be addressed. For example, in terms of pore sizes, as synthesized adsorbents often have pore size ranging from hundreds of nanometers to hundreds of micro-meters. In fact, the required pore size of the adsorbents for CO₂ capture must be less than 2 nm (microporous structures), as the pore size of the CO₂ molecule is 0.33 nm. Improvements of the strategy approach can thus be made by selecting an appropriate method that can simplify the overall process as well as contribute to a greater control over the adsorbent structural properties.



Figure 7 (a) Schematic illustration of self-assembly and steam activation procedures applied to rGO-based 3D structures; SEM images (b) before and (c) after steam activation. Reproduced with permission from (Yun et al., 2016).

5.2 Chemical modification

Essentially, the surface chemistry of nanomaterials is driven by the presence of functional groups, doping of heteroatoms (Morales-Torres et al., 2020), metal or metal oxide, and coating of organic polymer on the surface. The addition of nitrogen function could also modify nanomaterial surface chemistry. The presence of nitrogen-containing groups within the carbon matrix promotes an increase in the functional basicity that increases the capacity for adsorption (Rozas and Leonor, 2011). Moreover, the basicity of the adsorbent nanomaterials is also reinforced by the delocalized π electrons of aromatic rings and unsaturated valence (Gadipelli and Guo, 2015; Navalon et al., 2017). The amination principle is crucial for the development of nitrogen functionalities in such conditions and it occurs when N-containing species such as

ammonia, urea, melamine, and etc. are present. To date, 3D-GBM architectures have been considered as promising materials thanks to their properties including porous network, ultralight weight, high surface area, electrical conductivity, or mechanical strength. Sui et al. synthesized 3D amine-graphene porous materials with two different methods: (1) by hydrothermal reduction of graphene (HTG) using Teflon-lined stainless-steel autoclave at 180°C for 12 h and (2) by cross-linking approach under mild conditions (Sui et al., 2013). The CO₂ adsorption capacities of GO-PEI showed a maximum value of ~ 2.5 mmol g⁻¹, which is larger than that of HTG (~1.8 mmol g^{-1}) or GO (~1.7 mmol g^{-1}). They have also found that the efficiency of the CO₂ adsorption increases by 32% after the introduction of basic sites from PEI polymers on the GO surface. FTIR and XPS spectra confirmed the presence of PEI polymers as some PEI chains were covalently linked to the GO surface by amide bonds (as shown in Figure 8). Similarly, Pruna et al. investigated the adsorption behavior of EDA-functionalized graphene aerogels by a single-step hydrothermal process and successfully obtained a high range of adsorption capacity of 0.68 to 1.12 mmol g⁻¹ at 1 bar and 298 K (Pruna et al., 2019). The increase in CO₂ adsorption capacity with an increase of temperature from 273 to 298 K could be attributed to various factors, including chemical absorption, increased mobility of CO2 molecules, activity sites, and improved pore filling (Lozano-Castelló et al., 2004). Other than insertion of functional groups on the surface or edges of nanomaterials, the doping of sole heteroatoms such as nitrogen, boron, oxygen, and sulfur or the mixture of heteroatoms is also one of the methods used for tuning the favorable properties of nanomaterials and optimizing the capture of CO2. For instance, Babu et al. reported that nitrogen in the form of pyridinic and pyrrolic/pyridonic functionality was introduced by N2 plasma treatment on the vertically oriented CNTs surface, and heteroatoms were confirmed to be homogeneously distributed in the carbon framework using energy-filtered TEM. The presence of nitrogen functionality tends

to affect the properties of CO_2 adsorption as the novel vertically oriented N-doping CNTs exhibiting a good adsorption capacity of almost 8 mmol g⁻¹ at 298 K and 36 bar (Babu et al., 2017).



Figure 8 Mechanisms of chemical interactions between GO and PEI in GO-PEI hydrogel. Reproduced with permission frim (Sui et al., 2013).

In parallel, the introduction of metals (*e.g.*, Ni, Ce, Zn, Co, Ag, and Cu) or metal oxides (*e.g.*, Li₂O, Na₂O, MgO, CaO, and Al₂O₃) has attracted considerable attention as it could increase the tendency for CO₂ to influence the adsorption capacity. This is due to the fact that CO₂, as an acidic gas, is known to adsorb more strongly on the basic sites of some metal oxides, especially those with a lower charge which are more ionic and have more strongly basic sites. The effect of transition metals (*e.g.*, Co (II), Ni (II), Zn(II), Fe(III), Cu(II), Ag(I), La(III), and Ce(III)) on

CO₂ adsorption was investigated by Sun *et al.* In their work, a thermal treatment was used to prepare transition metal ion-exchanged SSZ-13 (Sun et al., 2019).

From the BET analysis, the surface area and the total pore volume of the adsorbents were found in the range of 600 m² g⁻¹–950 m² g⁻¹ and 0.3–0.6 cm³ g⁻¹, respectively. Among the investigated transition metals, Co (II)/SSZ-13 and Ni(II)/SSZ-13 showed the highest CO₂ uptake (4.49 and 4.45 mmol g^{-1} , respectively) and a superior selectivity of CO₂/N₂ at 273 K and 1 atm. This may also be due to an improvement in the reaction strength between CO₂ and the used transition metal. In addition, the combination of polymers has also shown beneficial effects in improving the CO₂ adsorption properties of nanostructured adsorbents. Politakos et al. performed the reduction-induced self-assembly process at mild conditions to produced 3D rGO/poly(methyl methacrylate (PMMA)) (rGO-Pol) (Politakos et al., 2020). The reduction reaction was performed using ascorbic acid as reducing agent; after that, it was placed in an oven at three different temperatures (45, 60, and 90°C). The BET analysis was carried out in order to characterize the porous texture of the monoliths, and at temperature 90°C, the BET surface area was the highest $(171-244 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1})$ as the reduction reaction took place very fast at higher temperatures compared to temperature 40 and 60°C. The amount of PMMA can also influence the self-assembly phase of rGO as it can create highly durable structures. At the synthesized condition of GO (ascorbic acid ratio of 1:1 and 10% polymer weight percent), the highest adsorption capacity of 3.85 mmol g^{-1} at 25°C and 1 atm was achieved. In this work, the preparation conditions of the graphene-based adsorbent, *i.e.*, the reducing agent amount and the reduction temperature, were crucial for the efficiency of CO₂. Thus, in this case, the surface area was not the only primary consideration for high performance.

5.3 Optimization of solid nanomaterials adsorbents for CO₂ capture

The sorbent-based approach has been proven to be among the future research methodologies for capturing CO₂. The main process can be described by molecular interactions between CO₂ and the sorbent surface. Most research works show regeneration energy and operating simplicity; the specific surface area and porosity are vital characteristics for effective diffusion through the developed material. Thus, in this section, the few relevant criteria reported to be of great importance to achieve a high CO₂ capture efficiency are discussed. Figures 9 shows the key parameters to optimize performances of ideal nanomaterials (Figure 9a) and a comparison of performance features of different solid nanomaterials for CO₂ adsorption (Figure 9b). Porous adsorbents are expected to meet several criteria for successful commercial deployment. They are based on technical requirements of the capture process, and a perfect balance must be achieved among most of them. First, suitable CO2 adsorbents require good interactions with CO₂ molecules resulting in a sufficiently high CO₂ adsorption capacity. Generally speaking, an adsorption capacity is considered effective above 2 mmol of CO₂ per gram of sorbent (Ben-Mansour et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2019; Deng and Park, 2019; Politakos et al., 2020). Commonly, both temperature and pressure can have an influence on CO₂ capture efficiency for carbonaceous materials like graphene, CNTs, and AC. The adsorption potential of CO2 increases significantly as temperature and pressure decreases and increases, respectively. Contrariwise, CO₂ adsorption is enhanced at a moderately high temperature for noncarbonaceous materials such as zeolite and MOFs as they exhibit high kinetic energy and a higher pore size and pore volume than those of carbon-based materials (Younas, 2016). In fact, the modification of solid adsorbents by certain methods, including acid treatment, amine grafting, alkaline metal-based modification, organic and inorganic linking, carbonate-based impregnation, and attachment of polymer, could increase the performance of CO₂ adsorption.
Second, the adsorbents need to have fast adsorption/desorption kinetics for carbon dioxide. Basically, the adsorption or desorption kinetics is often used to predict the coefficient at which the adsorbent adsorbs and desorbs (Wang et al., 2016). This coefficient offers a baseline for optimizing the adsorbent design to enhance the CO₂ adsorption capacity from different target streams. There are different common kinetic models that have been widely used, such as Pseudo 1st, Pseudo 2nd, and Avrami kinetic models. Fast adsorption/desorption kinetics are critical for effective CO₂ adsorption under operating conditions for both carbonaceous and noncarbonaceous materials, since the faster an adsorbent will adsorb/desorb CO₂, the less adsorbent would be required to capture a given volume of CO₂ (Varghese and Karanikolos, 2020). In addition, others have also stated that the overall kinetics of CO₂ adsorption may also be affected by the presence of functional groups (Chiang et al., 2019), and even the pore size and distribution of the support (Fletcher et al., 2007).

Third, gas selectivity is defined as the ratio of permeability coefficients of two gases. An ideal adsorbent should selectively adsorb CO_2 over other flue gas components. The degree of selectivity achieved has a direct impact on the purity of the CO_2 and thus subsequent pumping and storage processes. The adsorption of CO_2 , which is more than 3 mmol g⁻¹, shows a significant improvement toward selectivity. Ideally, one needs 100 times or more selectivity to make a significant impact.





Lastly, regeneration and recycling of adsorbents have been identified to be vital, as they must be used for several cyclical operations without significant loss of accuracy and, at the same time, maintain its adsorption performance (Gibson et al., 2016). There are primarily two methods of regeneration in basic form: temperature swing adsorption (TSA) and pressure swing adsorption (PSA). Adsorption-based processes using microporous materials comprise a cost-effective technique that is very interesting to examine. In a pressure swing adsorption (PSA) process, the adsorbent is regenerated by lowering the pressure (Siqueira et al., 2017), whereas in a temperature swing adsorption (TSA) operation, the regeneration is carried out by increasing the temperature (Raganati et al., 2020). In contrast with these two approaches, PSA is typically considered to be the most feasible and convenient process because of its simple operation, low operating and capital investment costs, and higher energy efficiency.

6. Nanomaterials and the Economic Perspective

Generally, according to the market study by Research and Market, the nanotechnology industry is expected to grow by US\$69.5 billion by 2025, with an average annual growth rate (AGR) of 13.8 %. The nanotechnology market in the United States is expected to be worth US\$13.2 billion in 2021, while China is expected to reach a market size of US\$5.1 billion by 2026, representing 1.2 % AGR over the forecast period. Aside from the United States and China, Japan and Canada are two other dominant global markets for nanotechnology, with economic projections of 8.1 % and 9.4 % over the expected timeline, respectively, whereas Germany is expected to achieve an annualized rate of 8.2 % within the Europe. Interestingly, experts estimate that nanomaterials will make a decent profit with this percentage, contributing to global growth with a market value of approximately US\$98.9 billion by 2025. In this context, the market studies available on internet show a significant expected growth of the global market, with an expected average range. The data show that the forecast for economic growth considering applications of nanomaterials is significant in the next 5 years. Furthermore, since the global nanomaterial market has grown tremendously, they have a strong potential to reach a wide range of stakeholders, as everyone engaged in nanotechnology challenges is investing heavily in the research field. Table 3 shows the price of the four types of nanomaterials studied in this study, including graphene, CNTs, zeolites and MOFs. According to our findings, pristine nanoparticles are less expensive than modified nanomaterials. This is to be expected, as modified nanomaterials are frequently manufactured using complex techniques that involve additional chemical and energy consumption. As a result, in order to generate high-quality products, reasonable and reliable modification technology is required. For instance, graphite powder is a low-cost starting material for making other graphene derivatives, and thanks to a simple graphite modification technology discovered years back, GO and other graphene derivatives have become more widely available in the market and have been extensively used in some applications, including efficient electronics (Szkopek and Martel, 2021), flexible displays (Wang et al., 2020), efficient solar panels (Wei et al., 2021), faster DNA sequencing (de Souza et al., 2020), drug delivery (Lu et al., 2020), and as adsorbent in adsorption studies

(Varghese et al., 2020). According to the most recent market assessments, the energy and storage industry has the largest economic and technological potential for nanomaterial applications, because these materials cover an amazing range of electrical (Glad et al., 2020), chemical (Mahmoudi, 2021), optical (Huang et al., 2020) and mechanical properties (Wu et al., 2020) perhaps the most impressive discovery is that they can be combined freely to create altogether new materials, so-called van der Waals heterostructures (Myers, 2020). Additionally, experts predict that in the coming years, the bulk production costs of nanomaterials, particularly graphene-based materials, will fall below the price of silicon, which is commonly used in semiconductor applications such as computing, chip manufacturing, sensors, solar cells, and etc., allowing graphene to enter all markets currently dominated by silicon. This is also because of silicon cannot be integrated into future flexible smartphones, as it is brittle and breaks when bent. Besides, silica gels are the low water exchange and that is because a very high relative pressure is required for adsorption and the limited quantity storage capacity. In this sense, nanomaterials offer a competitive solution.

Table 3 Comparison price of four different types of nanomaterials: graphene, CNTs, zeolites and MOFs.

Type of Nanomaterials	Price (€/g)
Pristine Graphite	
Graphite	42
Modified Graphene	
GNPs	684
GO	136
rGO	952
Sulfonated rGO	588
Pristine CNTs	
Single-walled	1480
Double-walled	1468

Multi-walled	145
Modified CNTs	
single-walled, octadecylamine functionalized	5290
single-walled, polyaminobenzene sulfonic acid functionalized	6330
multi-walled, carboxylic acid functionalized	138
Zeolite	
Zeolite	934
Zeolite 13X	3200
Zeolite Y	1420
MOFs	1
HKUST-1	15
MIL-53(Al)	37

7. Nanomaterials properties-performance relationships

Nanomaterials are considered more efficient than bulk materials in adsorbing CO₂ due to their exceptional properties. However, the CO₂ capture processes, and the role of each nanomaterial characteristics remain to be unclear. Thus, in this present section, the proposed analysis is based on the CO₂ adsorption capacity and the main relative properties of the used nano adsorbents. Due to the different adsorption conditions used and the various nature of the commonly studied adsorbents, it is always difficult to compare their efficiency. In Table 4, we have gathered the surface area and pore volume of the four families of nanomaterials discussed in this work. These two properties are indeed those searched by scholars for the purpose of improving their adsorption capacity. For each work, the reported CO₂ adsorption capacities in mmol/g for all designed adsorbent along with the used conditions for the measurements are provided in Table

4. The commonly used conditions to conduct CO₂ adsorption study are a pressure of 1 atm, and most of the time, the adsorption experiments are performed at 273 and/or 298 K. These operating temperatures are preferred for most of the studies. Temperature is one of the key variables for adsorption kinetics in CO₂ capture; usually, the CO₂ adsorption mechanism is exothermic in nature; this is the reason why low-temperature adsorption processes are preferred. As temperature is increased, surface energy of the system and molecular diffusion are boosted, and adsorbed CO₂ becomes more unstable on the surface of the adsorbents, resulting in desorbing of the gas molecules. The conditions out of these commonly used conditions (273 and 298 K and 1 atm), less investigated, are not included in Figures 10 and 11. These latter allow us to propose a rational analysis based on relevant aspects in the field we have chosen to enlighten.

Table 4 Comparison between	different nanomaterials	type in terms of the	e properties and C	O_2 adsorption	capacity
1		V 1	1 1	1	

Type of nanostructure	Synthesis	BET	Total	Adsorptio	Pressure	Temperature	Publication	Reference				
	approach	surface	pore	n capacity	(bar)	(K)	year					
		(m ² g ⁻¹)	$(\mathrm{cm}^3\mathrm{g}^{-1})$	(innorg)								
Graphenebased adsorbents												
3D porous graphene/PEI	Hydrothermal	476	~1.3	2.20	1	273	2013	(Sui et al., 2013)				
1 0 1	reduction											
	Mixed											
CuBTC/GO composites	solvent	1772	0.718	8.02	1	298	2020	(Shang, 2020)				
	method											
Monolith aerogels of	Wet	412	1 23	4 15	1	298	2013	(Alhwaige et al.,				
chitosan/GO	impregnation	712	1.23	7.15	1	270	2015	2013)				
ZnO/N_doned reduced	Thermal and											
graphene	coprecipitatio	1122	0.60	3.55	1	298	2016	(Li et al., 2016)				
graphene	n method											
Porous graphene	Chemical	181	0.68	2.80	1	273	2016	(Chowdhury,				
frameworks	reduction and	TUT	0.00	2.07	1	215	2010	2016)				

	thermal treatment							
NGA	Hydrothermal reduction	830	1.6	2.57	1	273	2015	(Sui et al., 2015)
3D rGO	CO ₂ activation	1316	1.07	2.45	1	298	2016	(Chowdhury and Balasubramanian , 2016a)
Carboxylated GO Cryogels	Carboxylic acid/amine coupling	21.37	-	2.00	1	298	2020	(Pruna et al., 2020)
rGO	Hydrothermal process	530	0.66	2.38	1	273	2015	(Sui and Han, 2015)
TiO ₂ /GO nanocomposites	Immobilizatio n of TiO ₂ particles	99.536	0.382	1.88	1	298	2015	(Chowdhury et al., 2015)
Holey graphene frameworks	Wet chemical impregnation method	524	1.27	1.87	1	273	2016	(Chowdhury and Balasubramanian , 2016b)
Functionalize GO	Acid treatment	45.3	-	1.83	1	298	2020	(Varghese et al., 2020)

3D porous graphene/EDA	Hydrothermal reduction	167.66	0.023	1.18	1	298	2019	(Pruna et al., 2019)				
PEI-GO	Wet impregnation	16	0.051	0.75	1	298	2016	(Shin et al., 2016)				
Clay/rGO hybrid	Hydrothermal reduction	50.7709	0.07878 6	0.49	1.1	298	2019	(Stanly et al., 2019)				
Chitosan/GO aerogel	Wet impregnation and amine coupling	33	0.0005 – 0.002	1.18	1	298	2019	(Hsan et al., 2019)				
NGA	Hydrothermal reduction	830	1.6	2.57	1	273	2015	(Sui et al., 2015)				
Nanoporous spongy graphene	Wet chemical reduction	348.2	0.04	0.86	. 1	37.84 21.12	2015	(Kostoglou et al., 2015)				
CNT -based adsorbents												
3D CNTs hierarchical porous composite	Chemical and thermal activation	2164	< 2	5.70 3.70	1	273 298	2020	(Hao et al., 2020)				

	Wet chemical							
	impregnation							
	method;							
Hierarchical N-doped	Carbonization	1105	0.45	4.50	1	272	2010	(Wang et al.,
CNTs	; SiO2	1195	0.43	4.30	1	215	2019	2019)
	etching;							
	Chemical							
	activation							
N-doped hollow porous	Pyrolysis	561	561 -	4.43	1	273		(X. He et al.,
carbon/CNTs	1 91019515	501			1		2019	2019)
Amine-modified CNTs	Wet	8 94	0.0565	2 97	1	298	2012	(Ye et al. 2012)
	impregnation	0.74	0.0505	2.97	1	270	2012	(10 00 al., 2012)
	Chemical							
MWCNTs/TFPA	activation and	2.2	0.03	2 50		202	2017	(Irani 2017)
MWCN18/TEPA	wet	2.2	0.05	2.50	-	290	2017	(Irani, 2017)
	impregnation							
Amine-modified CNTs	Wet	9.02	0.004	2 45	1	298	2011	(Sulet al. 2011)
	impregnation	2.02	0.004	2.73	1	270	2011	

MWCNTs/PAA	Heating in an oil bath at temperature 190°C- 250°C	60.4	0.4	1.59	1.1	298	2014	(Ngoy, 2014)
MWCNTs-ZnO-SiO2	Hydrothermal and sol-gel method	27.3	0.168	1.32	1	273	2019	(Jena, 2019)
CNTs/APTS	Reflux method	198	0.63	1.32	1	298	2008	(Lu et al., 2008)
Amine-modified CNTs	Wet impregnation	67.1	0.186	0.64	1	298	2018	(Zhou et al., 2018)
Functionalize MWCNTs	Acid treatment	126.48	0.18	0.33	1	298	2020	(Mukhtar et al., 2020)
			3D zeolite	-based adsorl	pents			
Na-chabazite	Chemical impregnation and hydrothermal process	580	0.24	5.70	1	298	2017	(Min et al., 2017)

3D Printed SAPO-34 / graphite zeolite	3D Fiber Deposition (3DFD)	534	0.19 5	4.90	1	273	2018	(Couck, 2018)				
(3D)-Printed 5A zeolite monoliths	3D printing	571	0.26	~4.4	1	298	2016	(Thakkar et al.,				
(3D)-Printed 13X Zeolite Monoliths	technique	543	0.25	~4.30				2016)				
Chitosan/zeolite-Y	Wet	795	< 1	1.64	1	298	2020	(Kumar et al.,				
Chitosan/ZSM-5	impregnation	444		2.39			2020	2020)				
	Chemical	140	0.25	2 1 9	1	272	2014	(Chen and Ahn,				
LTA zeontes	impregnation	140	0.55	5.18	1	213	2014	2014)				
3D MOF -based adsorbents												
GO/HKUST-1 composite	Solvothermal synthesis	1554	0.711	9.2	1	273	2016	(Xu et al., 2016)				
PANI/MIL-101(Cr)	Wet	2564	1 33	5.0	1	273		(Yoo et al.,				
composite	impregnation	2304	1.55	5.9	1		2018	2018)				
MOF/GO	Wet					273		(Asgharnejad et				
nanocomposites	impregnation	635	0.304	6.8			2018	al., 2018)				

MOF-177	Solution- based techniques	1721.09	0.87	1.03	1	298	2019	(Ullah et al., 2019)
MOF -101/ polymethacrylamide	Hydrothermal process	2410	1.22	3.60	1	298	2020	(Yoo et al., 2020)
3D-printed MOF-74(Ni) monoliths	3D printing	737	0.32	1.35				(Thakkar et al.,
3D-printed MOF-UTSA- 16(Co) monoliths	technique	568	0.23	1.31	1	273	2018	2016)
	Self-assembly			1.77		273		
heterometallic MOF	by solvothermal reaction	221	-	1.14	1	298	2020	(Liu et al., 2020)

PAA: Polyaspartamide; ZnO: Zinc oxide; SiO₂ : Silicon dioxide; TiO₂ : Titanium dioxide; SAPO : Silicoaluminophosphate; ZSM-5 : Zeolite Socony Mobil-5; HKUST-1 : Metal organic framework -199; MOF-UTSA- 16(Co) : A novel MOF with chemical formula K₂Co₃(cit)2

7.1 Achieved progress of CO₂ adsorption capacity in research

CO₂ capture using solid sorbents has been recognized as a useful strategy that has drawn considerable discussion from both academia and industry over the last decade. Moreover, in the last 5 years, there has been a significant rise in research activities globally. The sorbent systems have been enlarged regarding the nature of the material used as substrate and its functionalization and combination with other compound such as metal oxide nanoparticles (Goharibajestani et al., 2019; Philemon and Korir, 2020; Rodríguez-García et al., 2019); polymers (Flaig et al., 2017; G. He et al., 2019; Minelli et al., 2018; Politakos et al., 2020) and catalytic metal nanoparticles (such as Rh, Pd, Pt or Au) (Cui et al., 2018).

In Figure 10, the CO₂ adsorption capacity found in literature at 273 (Figure 10a) and at 298 K (Figure 10b) for the examined types of nanomaterials was reported as a function of the publication year.





For both temperatures, the CO₂ adsorption capacity is distributed on a scale with a maximum adsorption capacity around 10 mmol of CO₂ adsorbed for 1 g of adsorbent. Even if some prepared adsorbents remain in the lowest part of this scale, a significant improvement in CO₂ capture is evidenced in the figures for both examined temperatures. This present overview shows indeed that positive progress was achieved in this research domain in the past years. Such observation can also explain the growing interest for the topic, and it consolidates and might emphasize this tendency in the research community.

Back in 2008, work from Lu et al. developed an adsorbent using (3-aminopropyl)triethoxysilane (APTS)-modified CNTs with a CO2 adsorption capacity of 1.32 mmol/g at 298 K (cf. Table 4 and Figure 10b). They have used a two-step approach: first a reflux monoethanolamine (MEA)/NH₃/APTS/toluene is performed for 24 h, and, second, a thermal treatment under N₂ gas for 1 h was conducted (Lu et al., 2008). The developed approach is one of the proven techniques to overcome the agglomeration issue related to the sidewall hydrophobicity of CNTs and the strong rc-71 interactions between individual tubes. However, low yield of CNTs was observed due to the extreme conditions of oxidation leading to degradation and loss of MWCNTs as well as apparent structural damage (Jun et al., 2018). In 2020, the synthesis method of CNT-based adsorbents has been improved a lot. For instance, Hao et al. have developed a 3D hierarchical porous structure of composite with CNTs containing numerous heteroatom groups in 2020 (Hao et al., 2020). The specific surface area of this developed CNTbased adsorbent was then increased by a factor of 11, and it exhibited a maximum adsorption capacity of 5.7 and 3.7 mmol g⁻¹ at temperature 273 and 298 K, respectively (Table 4 and Figures 10a and 10b). These CO₂ adsorption capacities are among the best values reported to date. Although the precursor used is still CNTs, the method of synthesis has progressed a lot over the research years, especially in terms of control of the structure and configuration of the adsorbent. For example, development of 3D structure can boost the CO₂ adsorption not only because of enhancement of surface area, but also 3D structure offers a new CO₂ capture mechanism, since it could speed up the diffusion of gas and maximize the use of micropores. MOFs and GBMs exhibit the highest CO₂ capture at 273 and 289 K, respectively (Figures 10a and 10b). Xu et al. developed GO/HKUST-1 composites, which has recorded the highest reported CO₂ adsorption capacity up to 9.2 mmol g^{-1} (Table 4) (Xu et al., 2016). In this work, HKUST-1 was synthesized by solvothermal method; after, it was modified with GO by using

(Zn, Cu) hydroxyl double salt intermediate via ultrafast room temperature synthesis method to prepare the composite adsorbents of GO/HKUST-1. From the BET results, that composite materials reveal a high-specific surface area (1554 m² g⁻¹) and pore volume (0.711 cm³ g⁻¹), which could maximize the performance of CO₂. The performance found for this study was significantly higher compared with other works (Figure 11a). Moreover, the synthesis process of these MOF-based composites appears to be relevant to envisage an industrial scale. Within these 5 years, GBMs became one of the most studied nanomaterials that showed the best CO₂ capture (Figure 10b). For example, Shang et al. have developed a simple strategy to synthesize high surface copper benzene-1,3,5-tricarboxylate (CuBTC)/GO composites to enhance CO2 adsorption (Shang, 2020). The experiment was conducted using solvothermal techniques wherein different types of solvents were mixed and kept in a Teflon autoclave at temperature 353-413 K, and from the BET study, the authors showed that the CuBTC/GO composite surface area increases compared to the pristine. And the CO₂ adsorption was significantly improved from 8.02 mmol g^{-1} to 8.9 mmol g^{-1} as the high surface area creates more binding sites and increases the affinity of the surface. In the next section, a focus is made on the two key parameters when optimizing absorbents for CO₂ capture.

7.2 Pore volume and surface area

In the design of ideal nanomaterial adsorbents, particularly for the absorption of CO_2 , it is beneficial to develop or to understand the existing correlations between the material structure and the adsorption properties. Beyond that, structuring the porous hierarchy of materials will lead to a variety of features and functionalities that may be as well suitable for a wide range of applications. BET is a method commonly used for determining the textural properties of the porous materials. The BET principle relates to multilayer adsorption process where penetrating gases do not react chemically with the substrate surface (Thommes et al., 2015). Typically, nanomaterials with a modified surface and porosities have shown enhanced adsorption capacities. In the case of the nanostructured adsorbents examined here, this conducted analysis aims at investigating in which extent the surface area and/or the pore volume play(s) the major role in maximizing CO_2 capture. This is the reason why, in Figure 11, the reported CO_2 adsorption capacity (same works of that in Figure 10) is represented as a function of pore volume and surface area for each prepared adsorbent (cf. also Table 4).

From Figure 11, it can be noticed that the best performances for CO₂ capture do not simply correspond to the nanomaterials with the highest surface areas and/or for a specific range of pore volume.



Figure 11 CO₂ adsorption capacity recorded at temperature (a) 273 K and (b) 298 K as a function of surface area and pore volume of different sorbents.

For example, both works by Xu *et al.* (Xu et al., 2016) and Yoo *et al.* (Yoo et al., 2018) have studied MOF-based materials. They achieved good CO₂ capture at 273 K (Table 4 and Figure

11a) with 9.2 and 5.9 mmol g⁻¹, respectively. The first one, GO/HKUST-1 composite, revealed a surface area of 1154 m² g⁻¹ and a pore volume of 0.71 cm³ g⁻¹. Meanwhile the second one, polyaniline (PANI)/chromium terephthalate metal (MIL-101(Cr)) composite, has a surface area of 2564 m² g⁻¹ and a pore volume of 1.33 cm³ g⁻¹. Even if the surface is higher by a factor of more than 2.2 for PANI/MIL-101(Cr), its CO₂ adsorption capacity is almost twofold less than GO/HKUST-1 composite. In fact, the two groups have used two distinct methods to prepare their MOF-based porous nanomaterials. In Yoo et al.'s work, they introduced PANI on highly porous MOFs to improve the CO₂ capture efficiency, and they increased the amount of PANI from 2 to 10 mM. The specific surface area and the total pore volume were reported to decrease slightly after the chemical modification. Apart from that, the pore volume formed was sufficiently large, about 1.33 cm³ g⁻¹, to exhibit high CO₂ capture (from 4.6 to 5.9 mmol g⁻¹ at 1.0 bar and 273 K) even after PANI loading, making the adsorbents suitable for adsorption of CO₂ and N₂ (Yoo et al., 2018). In addition, the works by Chowdhury and Balasubramanian (Chowdhury and Balasubramanian, 2016a) and Shang et al. (Shang, 2020) both investigated the performance of CO₂ capture using 3D GBMs. In their study, Chowdhury and Balasubramanian have used physical modification to form 3D rGO-based structure, while Shang et al. proposed a chemical modification for the development of CuBTC/GO composites. They obtained good surface area and pore volume as for 3D rGO-based material; the surface area was 1316 m² g⁻¹ and pore volume of 1.07 cm³ g⁻¹. For CuBTC/GO composites, the surface area and pore volumes were 1772 m² g⁻¹ and 0.718 cm³ g⁻¹, respectively. The surface area of both GBMs is in a high range, and the measured pore volumes are not strongly different. In terms of performance, both 3D rGO-based adsorbent and CuBTC/GO composites achieved interesting CO_2 capture at temperature 289 K (Table 4 and Figure 11b) of 2.45 and 8.02 mmol g⁻¹, respectively. Although the surface area and the pore volume value of the two adsorbents tend

to be in the same range, the CO₂ adsorption capacity value showed a vast difference where for CuBTC/GO composites, the value increases by factor of almost 4. This improvement was attributed to partial positive charges on metal sites in Cu-BTC, which could lead to good CuBTC- CO₂ gas interactions and provide potential for the enhancement of CO₂ capture.

Asgharnejada et al. developed nanocomposites using the wet impregnation method Ni-based MOF and found that the introduction of GOs into Ni-A could reduce the surface area (635 m^2 g^{-1}) and the pore volume (0.304 cm³ g⁻¹) of the adsorbent (Asgharnejad et al., 2018). Although the surface area of MOF/GO nanocomposite appears to be almost four times lower compared to PANI/MIL-101(Cr) (Yoo et al., 2018) (Table 4 and Figure 11a), yet it still showed a remarkable CO₂ capture efficiency. There are some reasons that can cause this situation to happen, such as the presence of differing polar functional groups (epoxy, hydroxyl, carboxylic) on the GO or the addition of metal to the MOF, which increases the dispersive forces and increases the adsorption of gas. Additionally, graphene and zeolite have been revealed to be among the most predominant materials with higher adsorption capacity and surface area at operating temperatures 298 K. Ullah et al., (Ullah et al., 2019) and Li et al. (Li et al., 2016), for example, studied MOF-based (MOF-177) and GBMs (ZnO-based N-doped rGO), respectively (Table 4 and Figure 11b). According to the BET study, MOF-177 tended to have a surface area of 1721.09 m² g⁻¹ and a pore volume of 1.03 cm³ g⁻¹. For ZnO-based N-doped rGO, the surface area and pore volume obtained were 1122 m² g⁻¹ and 0.6 cm³ g⁻¹, respectively. Besides, the reported values seem to be slightly identical to those determined for MOF-177, yet in terms of performance, CO2 adsorption capacity of ZnO-based N-doped rGO (3.55 mmol/g) is almost three times higher than that of MOF-177 (1.03 mmol/g). The above implies that this is another example illustrating the adsorption capacity is not directly influenced by the surface area and the porosity. Among those two factors, pore size might indeed play a role in improving CO₂

adsorption. Another strategy for improving CO₂ adsorption capacity is to design microporous nanomaterials with abundant and narrow micropores with pore sizes less than 1 nm. According to a purely molecular sieving mechanism driven primarily by gas diffusion, further reduction in pore size close to 0.33 nm may lead to further enhancement of CO₂ selectivity. Typically, non-carbon-based materials, such as MOFs and zeolites contain an internal ordered channel, pores, or a combination of the two, which may contribute to an increase in pore size and resulting in a decrease in CO₂ capture at low pressure. But, when considering the heterogeneous slit-shaped holes of graphene and CNTs which are generally not possess homogenous pore network, the CO₂ absorption is more difficult to predict (Belmabkhout et al., 2016). In all of these cases, it is reasonable to conclude that nanomaterials with high specific surface area, large pore volume, and relatively small pore size would be ideal textural properties for CO₂ absorbent.

7. Concluding remarks

In this review, some aspects regarding the mechanisms involved in CO₂ capture and the preparation of CO₂ adsorbents have been reviewed. Four nanostructured adsorbents (graphene, CNT, MOF, zeolite-based nanosorbents) which are among the most studied have been chosen for adsorption capacity analysis. Their comparison is carried out by means of a robust analysis. The present analysis approach, which has never been reported yet, allows to relate the performances of the developed nanomaterials to their surface area and their pore volume which are among the two most relevant properties examined for development of adsorbents for CO₂ capture. This present in-depth analysis of the adsorption capacities in relation to the surface area and/or the pore volume shows that there is no obvious tendency regarding an

interdependence between them. The surface chemistry seems also to play a significant role in the CO₂ adsorption phenomenon. In fact, various modifications have been commonly reported, including physical and chemical modifications, which could alter the surface properties of adsorbents. Supplementary investigations focused on understanding the particular mechanisms involved in the adsorption of CO₂ on the modified surface have been poorly conducted so far, and both theoretically and experimentally, approaches would be of high interest for that purpose. Further studies in this domain are highly desired since the properties of materials at a molecular level offer the potential for their further improvement. Interactions between CO₂ and the adsorbent surface and especially the functionalities it bears are rarely studied as a real parameter impacting CO₂ adsorption. Computational simulations would furnish a complementary approach to experimental studies. For the experimental approach, modifying the nature and/or the density of the surface functional groups in a controlled way, even if it remains challenging, would be of great interest to better understand the involved molecular mechanisms. Besides, we can claim from this work that researchers who successfully control the synthesis methods have made a lot of progress in modifying the specific morphology and surface chemistry of the engineered adsorbents. Especially, adsorbents such as 3D assemblies of nanomaterials or composite structures have shown excellent performance of CO₂ capture. The cost of preparation of these nanomaterials has been continuously decreasing, which, in turn, provides an opportunity to them in practical applications in the future.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work has received financial support from Hubert Curien-Hibiscus (PHC) Collaboration Grant (203/PJKIMIA/6782004) through Ministry of Europe and Foreign Affairs (MEAE) with Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia and the French Ministry of National Education. We also acknowledge the funding provided by Institute of Postgraduate Studies (IPS), USM through the Universiti Sains Malaysia Fellowship, French Embassy in Malaysia, and Campus France.

References

- Abd, A.A., Naji, S.Z., Hashim, A.S., Othman, M.R., 2020. Carbon dioxide removal through physical adsorption using carbonaceous and non-carbonaceous adsorbents: A review.J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 8, 104142.
- Alfe, M., Policicchio, A., Lisi, L., Gargiulo, V., 2021. Solid sorbents for CO₂ and CH₄ adsorption: The effect of metal organic framework hybridization with graphene-like layers on the gas sorption capacities at high pressure. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 141, 110816.
- Alhwaige, A.A., Agag, T., Ishida, H., Qutubuddin, S., 2013. Biobased chitosan hybrid aerogels with superior adsorption: Role of graphene oxide in CO₂ capture. RSC Adv. 3, 16011.
- Asgharnejad, L., Abbasi, A., Shakeri, A., 2018. Ni-based metal-organic framework/GO nanocomposites as selective adsorbent for CO₂ over N₂. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials 262, 227–234.
- Babu, D.J., Bruns, M., Schneider, R., Gerthsen, D., Schneider, J.J., 2017. Understanding the influence of N-doping on the CO₂ adsorption characteristics in carbon nanomaterials.
 J. Phys. Chem. C 121, 616–626.
- Baltar, A., Gómez-Díaz, D., Navaza, J.M., Rumbo, A., 2020. Absorption and regeneration studies of chemical solvents based on dimethylethanolamine and diethylethanolamine for carbon dioxide capture. AIChE J. 66, e16770.
- Bandosz, T.J., Seredych, M., Rodríguez-Castellón, E., Cheng, Y., Daemen, L.L., Ramírez-Cuesta, A.J., 2016. Evidence for CO₂ reactive adsorption on nanoporous S- and Ndoped carbon at ambient conditions. Carbon 96, 856–863.

- Belmabkhout, Y., Guillerm, V., Eddaoudi, M., 2016. Low concentration CO₂ capture using physical adsorbents: Are metal–organic frameworks becoming the new benchmark materials? Chem. Eng. J. 296, 386–397.
- Ben-Mansour, R., Habib, M.A., Bamidele, O.E., Basha, M., Qasem, N.A.A., Peedikakkal, A., Laoui, T., Ali, M., 2016. Carbon capture by physical adsorption: Materials, experimental investigations and numerical modeling and simulations – A review. Appl. Energy 161, 225–255.
- Cabello, C.P., Berlier, G., Magnacca, G., Rumori, P., Palomino, G.T., 2015. Enhanced CO₂ adsorption capacity of amine-functionalized MIL-100(Cr) metal–organic frameworks. CrystEngComm. 17, 430–437.
- Cabello, C.P., Rumori, P., Palomino, G.T., 2014. Carbon dioxide adsorption on MIL-100(M)
 (M=Cr, V, Sc) metal–organic frameworks: IR spectroscopic and thermodynamic studies. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 190, 234–239.
- Chaemchuen, S., Zhou, K., Kabir, N.A., Chen, Y., Ke, X., Van Tendeloo, G., Verpoort, F., 2015. Tuning metal sites of DABCO MOF for gas purification at ambient conditions. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 201, 277–285.
- Chao, C., Deng, Y., Dewil, R., Baeyens, J., Fan, X., 2020. Post-combustion carbon capture. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 110490.
- Chen, C., Ahn, W.-S., 2014. CO₂ adsorption on LTA zeolites: Effect of mesoporosity. Appl. Surf. Sci. 311, 107–109.
- Chen, C., Feng, X., Zhu, Q., Dong, R., Yang, R., Cheng, Y., He, C., 2019. Microwave-assisted rapid synthesis of well-shaped MOF-74 (Ni) for CO₂ efficient capture. Inorg. Chem. 58, 2717–2728.

- Chen, Q., Rosner, F., Rao, A., Samuelsen, S., Bonnema, M., Jayaraman, A., Alptekin, G., 2020.
 Simulation of elevated temperature combined water gas shift and solid sorbent CO₂
 capture for pre-combustion applications using computational fluid dynamics. Appl.
 Energy 267, 114878.
- Chiang, Y.-C., Yeh, C.-Y., Weng, C.-H., 2019.Carbon dioxide adsorption on porous and functionalized activated carbon fibers. Appl. Sci 9, 1977.
- Chowdhury, S., 2016. Highly efficient, rapid and selective CO₂ capture by thermally treated graphene nanosheets. CO₂ Util. 13, 50-60.
- Chowdhury, S., Balasubramanian, R., 2016a. Three-dimensional graphene-based porous adsorbents for postcombustion CO₂ capture. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 55, 7906-7916.
- Chowdhury, S., Balasubramanian, R., 2016b. Holey graphene frameworks for highly selective post-combustion carbon capture. Sci Rep. 6, 21537.
- Chowdhury, S., Parshetti, G.K., Balasubramanian, R., 2015. Post-combustion CO₂ capture using mesoporous TiO2/graphene oxide nanocomposites. Chem. Eng. J. 263, 374–384.
- Ci, J., Cao, C., Kuga, S., Shen, J., Wu, M., Huang, Y., 2017. Improved performance of microbial fuel cell using esterified corncob cellulose nanofibers to fabricate air-cathode gas diffusion layer. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 5, 9614-9618.
- Couck, S., 2018. 3D-printed SAPO-34 monoliths for gas separation. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 255, 185-191.
- Cui, H., Zhang, X., Zhang, J., Ali Mehmood, M., 2018. Interaction of CO and CH₄ adsorption with noble metal (Rh, Pd, and Pt)-decorated N3-CNTs: A first-principles study. ACS Omega 3, 16892–16898.

- Darunte, L.A., Oetomo, A.D., Walton, K.S., Sholl, D.S., Jones, C.W., 2016. Direct air capture of CO₂ using amine functionalized MIL-101(Cr). ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 4, 5761–5768.
- De Souza, F.A.L., Sivaraman, G., Fyta, M., Scheicher, R.H., Scopel, W.L., Amorim, R.G., 2020. Electrically sensing Hachimoji DNA nucleotides through a hybrid graphene/ h -BN nanopore. Nanoscale 12, 18289–18295.
- De, V., Oliveira Sousa Neto, Santiago, G., Cabral Raulino, De, P., Tarso C Freire, Antônio,
 M., Nascimento, R.F.D., 2013. In: A Book on ion exchange, adsorption and solvent
 Extraction ISBN: 978- Equilibrium and kinetic studies in adsorption of toxic metal ions for wastewater treatment.
- Deng, M., Park, H.G., 2019. Spacer-assisted amine-coiled carbon nanotubes for CO₂ capture. Langmuir, 35, 4453-4459.
- Dhillon, A., Kumar, D., 2019. New generation nano-based adsorbents for water purification, in: nanoscale materials in water purification. Elsevier, pp. 783–798.
- Fang, M., Yi, N., Di, W., Wang, T., Wang, Q., 2020. Emission and control of flue gas pollutants in CO₂ chemical absorption system – A review. Int. J. Greenh. Gas Control 93, 102904.
- Feng, C., Khulbe, K.C., Matsuura, T., Farnood, R., Ismail, A.F., 2015. Recent progress in zeolite/zeotype membranes. J. Membr. Sci. Res. 1, 49-72.
- Flaig, R.W., Osborn Popp, T.M., Fracaroli, A.M., Kapustin, E.A., Kalmutzki, M.J., Altamimi, R.M., Fathieh, F., Reimer, J.A., Yaghi, O.M., 2017. The chemistry of CO₂ capture in an amine-functionalized metal–organic framework under dry and humid conditions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 139, 12125–12128.

- Fletcher, A.J., Uygur, Y., Thomas, K.M., 2007. Role of surface functional groups in the adsorption kinetics of water vapor on microporous activated carbons. J. Phys. Chem. C 111, 8349–8359.
- Fu, Q., Kansha, Y., Song, C., Liu, Y., Ishizuka, M., Tsutsumi, A., 2016. A cryogenic air separation process based on self-heat recuperation for oxy-combustion plants. Appl. Energy 162, 1114–1121.
- Furukawa, H., 2013. The chemistry and applications of metal-organic frameworks. Science 341, 6149.
- Gadipelli, S., Guo, Z.X., 2015. Graphene-based materials: Synthesis and gas sorption, storage and separation. Prog. Mater. Sci. 69, 1–60.
- Gibson, J.A.A., Mangano, E., Shiko, E., Greenaway, A.G., Gromov, A.V., Lozinska, M.M.,
 Friedrich, D., Campbell, E.E.B., Wright, P.A., Brandani, S., 2016. Adsorption
 Materials and Processes for Carbon Capture from Gas-Fired Power Plants: AMPGas.
 Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 55, 3840–3851.
- GISTEMP Team, 2021. GISS Surface Temperature Analysis (GISTEMP), version 4. (Published online August 2021). NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies.
- Glad, X., Profili, J., Cha, M.S., Hamdan, A., 2020. Synthesis of copper and copper oxide nanomaterials by electrical discharges in water with various electrical conductivities. Journal of Applied Physics 127, 023302.
- Goharibajestani, Z., Yürüm, A., Yürüm, Y., 2019. Effect of transition metal oxide nanoparticles on gas adsorption properties of graphene nanocomposites. Appl. Surf. Sci. 475, 1070–1076.

- Gómez-Pozuelo, G., Sanz-Pérez, E.S., Arencibia, A., Pizarro, P., Sanz, R., Serrano, D.P., 2019.
 CO₂ adsorption on amine-functionalized clays. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 282, 38–47.
- Hao, J., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Lai, X., Guo, Q., Zhao, J., Yang, Y., Li, Y., 2020. Hierarchical structure N, O-co-doped porous carbon/carbon nanotube composite derived from coal for supercapacitors and CO₂ capture. Nanoscale Adv. 2, 878–887.
- Harada, Y., Hijikata, Y., Kusaka, S., Hori, A., Ma, Y., Matsuda, R., 2019. Creation of MOFs with open metal sites by partial replacement of metal ions with different coordination numbers. Dalton Trans. 48, 2545–2548.
- Hasan, M.M.F., First, E.L., Boukouvala, F., Floudas, C.A., 2015. A multi-scale framework for CO₂ capture, utilization, and sequestration: CCUS and CCU. Computers & Chemical Engineering 81, 2–21.
- He, G., Huang, S., Villalobos, L.F., Zhao, J., Mensi, M., Oveisi, E., Rezaei, M., Agrawal, K.V., 2019. High-permeance polymer-functionalized single-layer graphene membranes that surpass the post combustion carbon capture target. Energy Environ. Sci. 12, 3305–3312.
- He, X., Liu, J., Jiang, Y., Yaseen, M., Guan, H., Sun, J., Cui, X., Liao, D., Tong, Z., 2019.
 'Useful' template synthesis of N-doped acicular hollow porous carbon/carbonnanotubes for enhanced capture and selectivity of CO₂ Chem. Eng. J. 361, 278–285.
- Heo, D.Y., Do, H.H., Ahn, S.H., Kim, S.Y., 2020. Metal-organic framework materials for perovskite solar cells. Polymers 12,2061.
- Heo, Y.-J., Park, S.-J., 2015. A role of steam activation on CO₂ capture and separation of narrow microporous carbons produced from cellulose fibers. Energy 91, 142–150.

- Hetemi, D., Noël, V., Pinson, J., 2020. Grafting of diazonium salts on surfaces: application to biosensors. Biosensors 10, 4.
- Hsan, N., Dutta, P.K., Kumar, S., Bera, R., Das, N., 2019. Chitosan grafted graphene oxide aerogel: Synthesis, characterization, and carbon dioxide capture study. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 125,300-306.
- Huang, J., Liu, J., Wang, J., 2020. Optical properties of biomass-derived nanomaterials for sensing, catalytic, biomedical, and environmental applications. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry 124, 115800.
- Irani, M., 2017. Modified carbon nanotubes/tetraethylenepentamine for CO₂ capture. Fuel 206, 10-18.
- Iruretagoyena, D., Bikane, K., Sunny, N., Lu, H., Kazarian, S.G., Chadwick, D., Pini, R., Shah, N., 2020. Enhanced selective adsorption desulfurization on CO₂ and steam treated activated carbons: Equilibria and kinetics. Chem. Eng. J. 379, 122356.
- Jena, K.K., 2019. MWCNTs-ZnO-SiO₂ mesoporous nano-hybrid materials for CO₂ capture. J. Alloys Compd. 800, 279-285.
- Jin, Y., Hawkins, S.C., Huynh, C.P., Su, S., 2013. Carbon nanotube modified carbon composite monoliths as superior adsorbents for carbon dioxide capture. Energy Environ. Sci. 6, 2591.
- Julbe, A., Drobek, M., Ayral, A., 2019. About the role of adsorption in inorganic and composite membranes. Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng. 24, 88–97.
- Jun, L.Y., Mubarak, N.M., Yon, L.S., Bing, C.H., Khalid, M., Abdullah, E.C., 2018. Comparative study of acid functionalization of carbon nanotube via ultrasonic and reflux mechanism. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 6, 5889–5896.

- Karka, S., Kodukula, S., Nandury, S.V., Pal, U., 2019. Polyethylenimine-modifed zeolite 13X for CO₂ capture: Adsorption and kinetic studies. ACS Omega 4, 16441–16449.
- Keller, L., Ohs, B., Lenhart, J., Abduly, L., Blanke, P., Wessling, M., 2018. High capacity polyethylenimine impregnated microtubes made of carbon nanotubes for CO₂ capture. Carbon 126, 338–345.
- Khalili, S., Ghoreyshi, A.A., Jahanshahi, M., Pirzadeh, K., 2013. Enhancement of carbon dioxide capture by aminefunctionalized multiwalled carbon nanotube. Clean–Soil, Air, Water, 41, 939-948.
- Kostoglou, N., Constantinides, G., Charalambopoulou, G., Steriotis, T., Polychronopoulou, K.,
 Li, Y., Liao, K., Ryzhkov, V., Mitterer, C., Rebholz, C., 2015. Nanoporous spongy graphene: Potential applications for hydrogen adsorption and selective gas separation.
 Thin Solid Films 596, 242-249.
- Králik, M. (2014). Adsorption, chemisorption, and catalysis. Chem. pap. 68(12), 1625-1638.
- Kumar, S., Bera, R., Das, N., Koh, J., 2020. Chitosan-based zeolite-Y and ZSM-5 porous biocomposites for H₂ and CO₂ storage. Carbohydr. Polym. 232, 115808.
- Kusumastuti, R., Pancoko, M., Butar-Butar, S.L., Putra, G.E., Tjahjono, H., 2018. Study on the mechanism of CO₂ adsorption process on zeolite 5a as a molecular sieve in RDE system: An infrared investigation. Journal of Physics 1198, 032009.
- Lau, L.C., Tan, K.T., Lee, K.T., Mohamed, A.R., 2009. A comparative study on the energy policies in Japan and Malaysia in fulfilling their nations' obligations towards the Kyoto Protocol. Energy Policy 37, 4771–4778.
- Le Quéré, C., Moriarty, R., Andrew, R.M., Canadell, J.G., Sitch, S., Korsbakken, J.I., Friedlingstein, P., Peters, G.P., Andres, R.J., Boden, T.A., Houghton, R.A., House, J.I., Keeling, R.F., Tans, P., Arneth, A., Bakker, D.C.E., Barbero, L., Bopp, L., Chang, J.,

Chevallier, F., Chini, L.P., Ciais, P., Fader, M., Feely, R.A., Gkritzalis, T., Harris, I., Hauck, J., Ilyina, T., Jain, A.K., Kato, E., Kitidis, V., Klein Goldewijk, K., Koven, C., Landschützer, P., Lauvset, S.K., Lefèvre, N., Lenton, A., Lima, I.D., Metzl, N., Millero, F., Munro, D.R., Murata, A., Nabel, J.E.M.S., Nakaoka, S., Nojiri, Y., O'Brien, K., Olsen, A., Ono, T., Pérez, F.F., Pfeil, B., Pierrot, D., Poulter, B., Rehder, G., Rödenbeck, C., Saito, S., Schuster, U., Schwinger, J., Séférian, R., Steinhoff, T., Stocker, B.D., Sutton, A.J., Takahashi, T., Tilbrook, B., van der Laan-Luijkx, I.T., van der Werf, G.R., van Heuven, S., Vandemark, D., Viovy, N., Wiltshire, A., Zaehle, S., Zeng, N., 2015. Global Carbon Budget 2015. Earth Syst. Sci. Data 7, 349–396.

- Lee, J.W., 2020. Review of nanoabsorbents for capture enhancement of CO₂ and its industrial applications with design criteria. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 110524.
- Lee, S.-Y., Park, S.-J., 2015. A review on solid adsorbents for carbon dioxide capture. J Ind Eng Chem. 23, 1–11.
- Lenssen, N.J.L., Schmidt, G.A., Hansen, J.E., Menne, M.J., Persin, A., Ruedy, R., Zyss, D., 2019. Improvements in the GISTEMP Uncertainty Model. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 124, 6307–6326.
- Li, D., Wang, T., Li, Z., Xu, X., Wang, C., Duan, Y., 2019. Application of Graphene-Based Materials for Detection of Nitrate and Nitrite in Water—A Review. Sensors 20, 54.
- Li, H., Wang, K., Sun, Y., Lollar, C.T., Li, J., Zhou, H.-C., 2018. Recent advances in gas storage and separation using metal–organic frameworks. Materials Today 21, 108–121.
- Li, K., 2014. The influence of polyethyleneimine type and molecular weight on the CO₂ capture performance of PEI-nano silica adsorbents. Appl. Energy 136, 750-755.
- Li, W., Yang, H., Jiang, X., Liu, Q., 2016. Highly selective CO₂ adsorption of ZnO based Ndoped reduced graphene oxide porous nanomaterial. Appl. Surf. Sci. 360, 143–147.

- Li, Y., 2016. Superior CO₂, CH₄, and H₂ uptakes over ultrahigh-surface-area carbon spheres prepared from sustainable biomass-derived char by CO₂ activation. Carbon, 105, 454-462.
- Lin, Y., Kong, C., Zhang, Q., Chen, L., 2017. Metal-organic frameworks for carbon dioxide capture and methane storage. Adv. Energy Mater. 7, 1601296.
- Liu, B., Li, H., Ma, X., Chen, R., Wang, S., Li, L., 2018. The synergistic effect of oxygencontaining functional groups on CO₂ adsorption by the glucose–potassium citratederived activated carbon. RSC Adv. 8, 38965–38973.
- Liu, B., Yao, S., Liu, X., Li, X., Krishna, R., Li, G., Huo, Q., Liu, Y., 2017. Two analogous polyhedron-based MOFs with high density of Lewis basic sites and open metal sites: significant co₂ capture and gas selectivity performance. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9, 32820–32828.
- Liu, J., Wei, Y., Li, P., Zhao, Y., Zou, R., 2017. Selective H₂S/CO₂ separation by metal–organic frameworks based on chemical-physical adsorption. J. Phys. Chem. C 121(24), 13249-13255.
- Liu, J., Wei, Y., Zhao, Y., 2018. Trace carbon dioxide capture by metal–organic frameworks. 7(1), 82-93.
- Liu, J., Yang, G.-P., Jin, J., Wu, D., Ma, L.-F., Wang, Y.-Y., 2020. A first new porous d-p HMOF material with multiple active sites for excellent CO₂ capture and catalysis. Chem. Commun. 56, 2395–2398.
- Lozano-Castelló, D., Cazorla-Amorós, D., Linares-Solano, A., 2004. Usefulness of CO₂ adsorption at 273 K for the characterization of porous carbons. Carbon 42, 1233–1242.
- Lu, C., Bai, H., Wu, B., Su, F., Hwang, J.F., 2008. Comparative study of CO₂ capture by carbon nanotubes, activated carbons, and zeolites. Energy Fuels 22, 3050–3056.

- Lu, T., Nong, Z., Wei, L., Wei, M., Li, G., Wu, N., Liu, C., Tang, B., Qin, Q., Li, X., Meng,
 F., 2020. Preparation and anti-cancer activity of transferrin/folic acid double-targeted
 graphene oxide drug delivery system. J Biomater Appl. 35, 15–27.
- Mahmoudi, M., 2021. The need for robust characterization of nanomaterials for nanomedicine applications. Nat Commun. 12, 5246.
- Manyà, J.J., García-Morcate, D., González, B., 2020. Adsorption performance of physically activated biochars for post combustion CO₂ capture from dry and humid flue gas. Appl. Sci. 10, 376.
- McCusker, L.B., Baerlocher, C., 2007. Zeolite Structures, in: Studies in surface science and catalysis. Elsevier, pp. 13–37.
- Min, J.G., Kemp, K.C., Hong, S.B., 2017. Zeolites ZSM-25 and PST-20: Selective carbon dioxide adsorbents at high pressures. J. Phys. Chem. C 121, 3404–3409.
- Minelli, M., Papa, E., Medri, V., Miccio, F., Benito, P., Doghieri, F., Landi, E., 2018. Characterization of novel geopolymer – Zeolite composites as solid adsorbents for CO₂ capture. Chem. Eng. J. 341, 505–515.
- Mohamad Nor, N., Lau, L.C., Lee, K.T., Mohamed, A.R., 2013. Synthesis of activated carbon from lignocellulosic biomass and its applications in air pollution control— A review.J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 1, 658–666.
- Mohd Firdaus, R., Berrada, N., Desforges, A., Mohamed, A.R., Vigolo, B., 2020. From 2D Graphene Nanosheets to 3D Graphene-based Macrostructures. Chem. Asian J. 15, 2902–2924.
- Morales-Torres, S., Pérez-Cadenas, A.F., Carrasco-Marín, F., 2020. Element-doped functional carbon-based materials. Materials 13, 333.

- Mukhtar, A., Mellon, N., Saqib, S., Khawar, A., Rafiq, S., Ullah, S., Al-Sehemi, A.G., Babar,
 M., Bustam, M.A., Khan, W.A., Tahir, M.S., 2020. CO₂/CH₄ adsorption over
 functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes; an experimental study, isotherms
 analysis, mechanism, and thermodynamics. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 294, 109883.
- Murge, P., Dinda, S., Roy, S., 2019. Zeolite-based sorbent for CO₂ Capture: Preparation and performance evaluation. Langmuir 35, 14751–14760.
- Myers, P., 2020. Michael Berger: Nanoengineering: The skills and tools making technology invisible. Chromatographia 83, 561–561.
- Nandi, S., Maity, R., Chakraborty, D., Ballav, H., Vaidhyanathan, R., 2018. Preferential adsorption of CO₂ in an ultra-microporous MOF with cavities lined by basic groups and open-metal sites. Inorg. Chem. 57, 5267-5272.
- Navalon, S., Dhakshinamoorthy, A., Alvaro, M., Antonietti, M., Garcia, H., 2017. Active sites on graphene-based materials as metal-free catalysts. Chem Soc Rev. 46, 4501-4529.
- Ngoy, J.M., 2014. A CO₂ capture technology using multi-walled carbon nanotubes with polyaspartamide surfactant. Energy Procedia 63, 2230-2248.
- Oliveira, H.S., Araújo, L.M., Pinto, P.C.C., Pereira, G.V., de Souza, P.P., Belchior, J.C., Oliveira, L.C.A., 2020. Improvement on CO₂ capture by CaO pellet modified with carbon nanotubes. Int Nano Lett 10, 141–149.
- Panda, D., Kumar, E.A., Singh, S.K., 2019. Amine modification of binder-containing zeolite4A bodies for post-combustion CO₂ capture. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 58, 5301–5313.
- Panic, V., Seslija, S., Nesic, A., Velickovic, S., 2013. Adsorption of azo dyes on polymer materials. Hem Ind 67, 881–900.
- Patel, H.A., Byun, J., Yavuz, C.T., 2017. Carbon dioxide capture adsorbents: Chemistry and methods. ChemSusChem 10, 1303–1317.
- Pathakoti, K., Manubolu, M., Hwang, H.-M., 2018. Nanotechnology applications for environmental industry, in: Handbook of nanomaterials for industrial applications. Elsevier, pp. 894–907.
- Philemon, K.T., Korir, K.K., 2020. Carbon dioxide gas sensing, capture, and storage potential of calcium oxide surface and single walled carbon nanotube: insights from *ab initio* simulation. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 32, 245901.
- Politakos, N., Barbarin, I., Cordero-Lanzac, T., Gonzalez, A., Zangi, R., Tomovska, R., 2020. Reduced graphene oxide/polymer monolithic materials for selective CO₂ capture. Polymers 12, 936.
- Pourebrahimi, S., Kazemeini, M., Ganji Babakhani, E., Taheri, A., 2015. Removal of the CO₂ from flue gas utilizing hybrid composite adsorbent MIL-53(Al)/GNP metal-organic framework. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 218, 144–152.
- Pruna, A., Cárcel, A.C., Benedito, A., Giménez, E., 2019. Effect of synthesis conditions on CO₂ capture of ethylenediamine-modified graphene aerogels. Appl. Surf. Sci. 487, 228–235.
- Pruna, A.I., Barjola, A., Cárcel, A.C., Alonso, B., Giménez, E., 2020. Effect of varying amine functionalities on CO₂ capture of carboxylated graphene oxide-based cryogels.
 Nanomaterials 10, 1446.
- Raganati, F., Chirone, R., Ammendola, P., 2020. CO₂ capture by temperature swing adsorption: working capacity as affected by temperature and CO₂ partial pressure. Ind. Eng. Chem.
 Res. 59, 3593–3605.

- Ribeiro, B., Botelho, E.C., Costa, M.L., Bandeira, C.F., 2017. Carbon nanotube buckypaper reinforced polymer composites: a review. Polímeros 27, 247–255.
- Rodríguez-García, S., Santiago, R., López-Díaz, D., Merchán, M.D., Velázquez, M.M., Fierro,
 J.L.G., Palomar, J., 2019. Role of the structure of graphene oxide sheets on the CO₂
 adsorption properties of nanocomposites based on graphene oxide and polyaniline or
 Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 7, 12464-12473.
- Rozas, R., Leonor, M., 2011. Nitrogen-Containing Carbon Nanotubes. A theoretical approach, in: Bianco, S. (Ed.), Carbon nanotubes - From research to applications. InTech.
- Sánchez-Zambrano, K.S., Vilarrasa-García, E., Maia, D.A.S., Bastos-Neto, M., Rodríguez-Castellon, E., Azevedo, D.C.S., 2020. Adsorption microcalorimetry as a tool in the characterization of amine-grafted mesoporous silicas for CO₂ capture. Adsorption 26, 165–175.
- Seoane, B., Coronas, J., Gascon, I., Benavides, M.E., Karvan, O., Caro, J., Kapteijn, F., Gascon, J., 2015. Metal–organic framework based mixed matrix membranes: a solution for highly efficient CO₂ capture? Chem. Soc. Rev. 44, 2421–2454.
- Shahabi, M., Raissi, H., 2016. Molecular dynamics simulation and quantum chemical studies on the investigation of aluminum nitride nanotube as phosgene gas sensor. J Incl Phenom Macrocycl Chem 86, 305–322.
- Shang, S., 2020. Facile synthesis of CuBTC and its graphene oxide composites as efficient adsorbents for CO₂ capture. Chem. Eng. J. 393, 124666.
- Shin, G.-J., Rhee, K., Park, S.-J., 2016. Improvement of CO₂ capture by graphite oxide in presence of polyethylenimine. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 41, 14351–14359.

- Singh, G., Lee, J., Karakoti, A., Bahadur, R., Yi, J., Zhao, D., AlBahily, K., Vinu, A., 2020.
 Emerging trends in porous materials for CO₂ capture and conversion. Chem. Soc. Rev. 49, 4360–4404.
- Singh, J., 2019. Synthesis of sulphur enriched carbon monoliths for dynamic CO₂ capture. Chem. Eng. J. 374, 1-9.
- Singh, J., Basu, S., Bhunia, H., 2019a. CO₂ capture by modified porous carbon adsorbents: effect of various activating agents. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng. 102, 438-447.
- Singh, J., Basu, S., Bhunia, H., 2019b. Dynamic CO₂ adsorption on activated carbon adsorbents synthesized from polyacrylonitrile (PAN): Kinetic and isotherm studies. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 280, 357–366.
- Singh, J., Bhunia, H., Basu, S., 2018. Synthesis of porous carbon monolith adsorbents for carbon dioxide capture: Breakthrough adsorption study. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng. 89, 140–150.
- Siqueira, R.M., Freitas, G.R., Peixoto, H.R., Nascimento, J.F. do, Musse, A.P.S., Torres, A.E.B., Azevedo, D.C.S., Bastos-Neto, M., 2017. Carbon dioxide capture by pressure swing adsorption. Energy Procedia 114, 2182–2192.
- Sladekova, K., Campbell, C., Grant, C., Fletcher, A.J., Gomes, J.R.B., Jorge, M., 2020. The effect of atomic point charges on adsorption isotherms of CO₂ and water in metal organic frameworks. Adsorption 26, 663–685.
- Smith, T.M., Reynolds, R.W., Peterson, T.C., Lawrimore, J., 2008. Improvements to NOAA's historical merged land–ocean surface temperature analysis (1880–2006). Journal of Climate 21, 2283–2296.
- Sreenivasulu, B., Sreedhar, I., Suresh, P., Raghavan, K.V., 2015. Development Trends in Porous Adsorbents for Carbon Capture. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 12641–12661.

- Stanly, S., Jelmy, E.J., Nair, C.P.R., John, H., 2019. Carbon dioxide adsorption studies on modified montmorillonite clay/reduced graphene oxide hybrids at low pressure. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 7, 103344.
- Su, F., Lu, C., 2012. CO₂ capture from gas stream by zeolite 13X using a dual-column temperature/vacuum swing adsorption. Energy Environ. Sci. 5, 9021.
- Su, F., Lu, C., Chen, H.-S., 2011. Adsorption, desorption, and thermodynamic studies of co₂ with high-amine-loaded multiwalled carbon nanotubes. Langmuir 27, 8090–8098.
- Su, F., Lu, C., Kuo, S.-C., Zeng, W., 2010. Adsorption of CO₂ on amine-functionalized Y-type zeolites. Energy Fuels 24, 1441-1448
- Sui, Z.-Y., Cui, Y., Zhu, J.-H., Han, B.-H., 2013. Preparation of three-dimensional graphene oxide–polyethylenimine porous materials as dye and gas adsorbents. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 5, 9172–9179.
- Sui, Z.-Y., Han, B.-H., 2015. Effect of surface chemistry and textural properties on carbon dioxide uptake in hydrothermally reduced graphene oxide. Carbon 82, 590–598.
- Sui, Z.-Y., Meng, Q.-H., Li, J.-T., Zhu, J.-H., Cui, Y., Han, B.-H., 2014. High surface area porous carbons produced by steam activation of graphene aerogels. J. Mater. Chem. A 2, 9891.
- Sui, Z.-Y., Meng, Y.-N., Xiao, P.-W., Zhao, Z.-Q., Wei, Z.-X., Han, B.-H., 2015. Nitrogendoped graphene aerogels as efficient supercapacitor electrodes and gas adsorbents. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 7, 1431–1438.
- Sun, M., Gu, Q., Hanif, A., Wang, T., Shang, J., 2019. Transition metal cation-exchanged SSZ-13 zeolites for CO₂ capture and separation from N₂. Chem. Eng. J. 370, 1450–1458.
- Szkopek, T., Martel, E., 2021. Suspended graphene electromechanical switches for energy efficient electronics. Prog. Quantum. Electron. 76, 100315.

- Tan, B., Cheng, G., Zhu, X., Yang, X., 2020. Experimental study on the physisorption characteristics of o₂ in coal powder are effected by coal nanopore structure. Sci Rep. 10, 6946.
- Thakkar, H., Eastman, S., Hajari, A., Rownaghi, A.A., Knox, J.C., Rezaei, F., 2016. 3D-printed zeolite monoliths for CO₂ removal from enclosed environments. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 8, 27753–27761.
- Thommes, M., Kaneko, K., Neimark, A.V., Olivier, J.P., Rodriguez-Reinoso, F., Rouquerol, J., Sing, K.S.W., 2015. Physisorption of gases, with special reference to the evaluation of surface area and pore size distribution (IUPAC Technical Report). Pure and applied chemistry 87, 1051-1069.
- Treptow, R.S., 1980. Le Châtelier's principle: A reexamination and method of graphic illustration. J. Chem. Educ. 57, 417.
- Ullah, S., Bustam, M.A., Assiri, M.A., Al-Sehemi, A.G., Sagir, M., Abdul Kareem, F.A., Elkhalifah, A.E.I., Mukhtar, A., Gonfa, G., 2019. Synthesis, and characterization of metal-organic frameworks -177 for static and dynamic adsorption behaviour of CO₂ and CH₄. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 288, 109569.
- Varghese, A.M., Karanikolos, G.N., 2020. CO₂ capture adsorbents functionalized by amine bearing polymers: A review. nt. J. Greenh. Gas Control. 96, 103005.
- Varghese, A.M., Reddy, K.S.K., Singh, S., Karanikolos, G.N., 2020. Performance enhancement of CO₂ capture adsorbents by UV treatment: The case of self-supported graphene oxide foam. Chem. Eng. J. 386, 124022.
- Wang, H., Xu, C., Zhou, Y., Zhao, W., Zhong, J., Huang, W., Chen, R., 2019. Fabrication of hierarchical n-doped carbon nanotubes for CO₂ adsorption. NANO 14, 1950072.

- Wang, J., Huang, L., Yang, R., Zhang, Z., Wu, J., Gao, Y., Wang, Q., O'Hare, D., Zhong, Z., 2014. Recent advances in solid sorbents for CO₂ capture and new development trends. Energy Environ. Sci. 7, 3478–3518.
- Wang, J., Zhang, Z., Wang, S., Zhang, R., Guo, Y., Cheng, G., Gu, Y., Liu, K., Chen, K., 2020.
 Superstable copper nanowire network electrodes by single-crystal graphene covering and their applications in flexible nanogenerator and light-emitting diode. Nano Energy 71, 104638.
- Wang, Q., Liu, Y., Chen, J., Du, Z., Mi, J., 2016. Control of Uniform and Interconnected Macroporous Structure in PolyHIPE for Enhanced CO2 Adsorption/Desorption Kinetics. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 7879–7888.
- Wang, X., He, T., Hu, J., Liu, M., 2021. The progress of nanomaterials for carbon dioxide capture *via* the adsorption process. Environ. Sci.: Nano 8, 890–912.
- Wang, Y., 2019. Fabrication of hierarchical carbon nanosheet-based networks for physical and chemical adsorption of CO₂. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 534, 72-80.
- Wei, D., Wu, C., Jiang, G., Sheng, X., Xie, Y., 2021. Lignin-assisted construction of welldefined 3D graphene aerogel/PEG form-stable phase change composites towards efficient solar thermal energy storage. Sol. Energy Mater Sol. Cells 224, 111013.
- Wei, Z., Seo, Y., 2010. Trichloroethylene (TCE) adsorption using sustainable organic mulch.J. Hazard. Mater. 181, 147–153.
- White, D.J., 2013. Literature review on adsorption cooling systems. Lat. Am. Caribb. J. Eng. Educ. 27.
- Wu, Q., Miao, W., Zhang, Y., Gao, H., Hui, D., 2020. Mechanical properties of nanomaterials:A review. Nanotechnol. Rev. 9, 259–273.

- Xia, K., Tian, X., Fei, S., You, K., 2014. Hierarchical porous graphene-based carbons prepared by carbon dioxide activation and their gas adsorption properties. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 39, 11047–11054.
- Xia, X., Tang, Y., 2012. Isotope fractionation of methane during natural gas flow with coupled diffusion and adsorption/desorption. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 77, 489–503.
- Xu, F., Yu, Y., Yan, J., Xia, Q., Wang, H., Li, J., Li, Z., 2016. Ultrafast room temperature synthesis of GrO@HKUST-1 composites with high CO₂ adsorption capacity and CO₂/N₂ adsorption selectivity. Chem. Eng. J. 303, 231–237.
- Xu, X., Xu, Z., Gao, B., Zhao, L., Zheng, Y., Huang, J., Tsang, D.C.W., Ok, Y.S., Cao, X.,
 2020. New insights into CO₂ sorption on biochar/Fe oxyhydroxide composites:
 Kinetics, mechanisms, and in situ characterization. Chem. Eng. J. 384, 123289.
- Yaumi, A.L., Bakar, M.Z.A., Hameed, B.H., 2017. Recent advances in functionalized composite solid materials for carbon dioxide capture. Energy 124, 461–480.
- Ye, Q., Jiang, J., Wang, C., Liu, Y., Pan, H., Shi, Y., 2012. Adsorption of low-concentration carbon dioxide on amine-modified carbon nanotubes at ambient temperature. Energy Fuels 26, 2497–2504.
- Yoo, D.K., Abedin Khan, N., Jhung, S.H., 2018. Polyaniline-loaded metal-organic framework
 MIL-101(Cr): Promising adsorbent for CO₂ capture with increased capacity and selectivity by polyaniline introduction. J. CO2 Util. 28, 319–325.
- Yoo, D.K., Yoon, T.-U., Bae, Y.-S., Jhung, S.H., 2020. Metal-organic framework MIL-101 loaded with polymethacrylamide with or without further reduction: Effective and selective CO₂ adsorption with amino or amide functionality. Chem. Eng. J. 380, 122496.

- Younas, M., 2016. Feasibility of CO₂ adsorption by solid adsorbents: a review on lowtemperature systems. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1839–1860.
- Yu, J., Xie, L.-H., Li, J.-R., Ma, Y., Seminario, J.M., Balbuena, P.B., 2017. CO₂ capture and separations using mofs: Computational and experimental studies. Chem. Rev. 117, 9674–9754.
- Yun, S., Lee, H., Lee, W.-E., Park, H.S., 2016. Multiscale textured, ultralight graphene monoliths for enhanced CO₂ and SO₂ adsorption capacity. Fuel 174, 36–42.
- Zhang, W., Liu, H., Sun, Y., Cakstins, J., Sun, C., Snape, C.E., 2016. Parametric study on the regeneration heat requirement of an amine-based solid adsorbent process for postcombustion carbon capture. Appl. Energy 168, 394–405.
- Zhang, Z., Cano, Z.P., Luo, D., Dou, H., Yu, A., Chen, Z., 2019. Rational design of tailored porous carbon-based materials for CO₂ capture. J. Mater. Chem. A 7, 20985-21003.
- Zhou, Z., Balijepalli, S.K., Nguyen-Sorenson, A.H.T., Anderson, C.M., Park, J.L., Stowers, K.J., 2018. Steam-stable covalently bonded polyethylenimine modified multiwall carbon nanotubes for carbon dioxide capture. Energy Fuels 32, 11701–11709.